
Heritage Park 
Community Development District 

November 211 2019 



Heritage Park Community Development District 
475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine FL 32092 

November 14, 2019 

Board of Supervisors 
Heritage Park 
Community Development District 

Dear Board Members: 

P: (904) 940-5850 • F: (904) 940-5899 

The Heritage Park Community Development District Board of Supervisors Meeting is scheduled for 
Thursday, November 21, 2019 at 1:00 p.m. at the Heritage Park Amenity Center, 225 Hefferon 
Drive, St. Augustine, Florida 32084. 
Following is the advance agenda for the meeting: 

I. Roll Call 
II. Public Comment 

III. Approval of the Minutes of the September 19, 2019 Meeting 
IV. Consideration of Resolution 2020-01, Setting a Public Hearing Date to Adopt the Revised 

Rules of Procedure 
V. Discussion of Board of Supervisors Job Description and Code of Conduct 

VI. Consideration of Proposal from Prosser for Rate Increase 
VII. Staff Reports 

A. Attorney 
B. Engineer 
C. Manager 
D. Operations Manager - Report 

VIII. Audience Comments 
IX. Supervisors Requests 
X. Financial Reports 

A. Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues & Expenditures 
B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 
C. Approval of Check Register 

XI. Next Scheduled Meeting - January 16, 2020 at 1 :00 p.m. 
XII. Adjournment 

Enclosed for your review and approval is a copy of the minutes of the September 19, 2019 meeting. 

The fourth order of business is consideration of Resolution 200-01, which is enclosed for your review. 

The sixth order of business is consideration of proposal from Prosser, which is enclosed for your 
review. 

Enclosed under the Operations Manager's report is a memorandum. 



A copy of the financial statements, assessments receipts and check register are enclosed for your 
review. 

The balance of the agenda is routine in nature, and any additional supp01i material will be presented 
and discussed at the meeting. 

I look forward to seeing you at the meeting and in the meantime if you have any questions, please 
contact me. 

Sincerely, 

J~<9Uve-v 
James Oliver 
District Manager 

cc: Rich Whetsel 
Brian Stephens 
Darrin Mossing 
Ryan Stilwell 

Jenny Urcan 
Michael Ecke1i 
Carl Eldred 

2 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



Heritage Park 
Community Development District 

Agenda 

Thursday 
November 21, 2019 
1:00p.m. 

I. Roll Call 

II. Public Comment 

Heritage Park Amenity Center 
225 Hefferon Drive 

St. Augustine, Florida 32084 
Call In# 1-800-264-8432 Code# 545792 

District Website: www.heritageparkcdd.com 

III. Approval of the Minutes of the September 19, 2019 Meeting 

IV. Consideration of Resolution 2020-01, Setting a Public Hearing Date to Adopt 
the Revised Rules of Procedure 

V. Discussion of Board of Supervisors Job Description and Code of Conduct 

VI. Consideration of Proposal from Prosser for Rate Increase 

VII. Staff Reports 
A. Attorney 

B. Engineer 

C. Manager 

D. Operations Manager - Report 

VIII. Audience Comments 

IX. Supervisors Requests 

X. Financial Reports 
A. Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues & Expenditures 

B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 

C. Approval of Check Register 



XI. Next Scheduled Meeting - January 16, 2020 at I :00 p.m. 

XII. Adjournment 

2 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 



MINUTES OF MEETING 
HERITAGE P ARI( COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Heritage Park Community 

Development District was held on Thursday, September 19, 2019 at 1:00 p.m. at the Heritage 

Park Amenity Center, 225 Hefferon Drive, St. Augustine, Florida 32084. 

Present and constituting a quorum were: 

Ken Kinnecom 
Robert Curran 
Mark Masley (by phone) 
Joanne Wharton 
Thomas Ferry 

Also present were: 

Jim Oliver 
Carl Eldred (by phone) 
Brian Stephens 
Francis Dobleo 
Cheyne Solesby 
Garrett Cannady 

Chairman 
Vice Chairman 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 
Supervisor 

District Manager 
District Counsel 
Riverside Management Services 
Prosser, Inc. 
Yellowstone Landscape 
Yellowstone Landscape 

The following is a summary of the actions taken at the September 19, 2019 meeting. A 

copy of the proceedings can be obtained by contacting the District Manager. 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Roll Call 

Mr. Oliver called the meeting to order at 1 :00 p.m. A quorum was present. 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comment 

There being none, the next item followed. 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of the Minutes of the July 18, 2019 
Meeting 

On MOTION by Mr. Kinnecom seconded by Mr. Curran with all 
in favor the Minutes of the July 18, 2019 meeting as presented 
were approved. 



September 19, 2019 Heritage Park CDD 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Landscape Maintenance Update 
Yellowstone Landscape 

Mr. Cheyne Solesby, Branch Manager of Yellowstone Landscape m Jacksonville 

introduced himself and Mr. Garrett Carmady, Account Manager for the District. Mr. Cannady 

reported that a few drains were cleared of debris in the ditch between the villas and homes. It 

was extremely hard to mow the area as it was wet. 

Discussion ensued and the following was addressed by the Board: 

► Ms. Wharton asked if a surface drain was going into a French drain. Mr. Solesby 

confirmed it was a solid pipe through the entire ditch with three drains. Two of 

the three drains were covered with debris. 

► Ms. Wharton's concern was that the District's drains were contributing to the 

wetness and questioned whether the drains were exposed prior to Hurricane 

Dorian. Mr. Solesby explained that Yellowstone maintained them so they could 

mow. Mr. Stephens reported the drains behind 641 E. Red House Branch Road 

were cleared two weeks prior to Hurricane Dorian. Mr. Cannady found an 

additional one on Monday, noting if the drains did not work, a French drain was 

recommended to catch the surface water. 

► Mr. Kinnecom asked if the water flowed into a pond or the road. Mr. Cannady 

replied the water flowed into a pond. Mr. Kinnecom asked if there could be an 

enclosure around the drains, so grass and weeds did not clog it up. Mr. Cannady 

would monitor to ensure they were clear of debris. 

► Ms. Wharton reported in a similar area where the white fence borders the villas, 

the area was not being weed whacked properly. Mr. Dobleo and Mr. Stephens 

evaluated it, determined the grades were not constant slope and asked if there was 

a way to straighten it out. 

Mr. Kinnecom thanked Mr. Solesby and Mr. Cannady for their presentation and for their 

hard work. 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Fiscal Year 2019 Audit 
Engagement Letter with Grau & Associates 

Mr. Oliver stated that as a unit of government in Florida, the District is required to have 

an independent audit performed each year,. The auditor, Grau & Associates was selected 

2 



September 19, 2019 Heritage Park CDD 

through the request for proposal (RFP) process, as required by Chapter 218 of the Florida 

Statutes. The engagement letter in the agenda package lists a fee of $3,400, which was included 

in the proposal and budgeted for Fiscal Year 2020. 

On MOTION by Ms. Whaiion seconded by Mr. Kinnecom with all 
in favor the engagement letter from Grau & Associates in the 
ainount of $3,400 was ratified. 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Fiscal Year 2020 
Maintenance Renewal Agreements 

A. Future Horizons 

Mr. Oliver stated the agreement with Future Horizons for FY20 is $23,240, annually, 

which was the same ainount budgeted for Fiscal Year 2019. 

On MOTION by Mr. Kinnecom seconded by Mr. Curran, with all 
in favor Fiscal Year 2020 Maintenance Renewal Agreement with 
Future Horizons in the amount of $23,240 was approved. 

B. Yellowstone Landscape 

Mr. Oliver stated the agreement with Yellowstone Landscaping has a cost of $36,738 for 

FY20 versus $35,325 for FY19, a $1,500 increase. The budgeted amount was $35,325 and there 

are $6,000 in contingency funds. 

On MOTION by Ms. Whaiion seconded by Mr. Kinnecom with all 
in favor the Fiscal Year 2020 Maintenance Renewal Agreement 
with Yellowstone Landscape in the amount of $36,738 was 
approved. 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

A. Attorney 

Mr. Eldred informed the Board that it is time to update and revise the District Rules of 

Procedure to reflect changes in the Florida Statutes along with some policy changes. The 

proposed revisions will be provided at the next meeting. It will be necessary to schedule a public 

hearing to adopt those changes. 

3 



September 19, 2019 Heritage Park CDD 

B. Engineer 

Mr. Dobleo provided an update on East Red House Branch Road. Mr. Oliver recalled 

that the proposal was significantly higher than what the Board approved. Mr. Kinnecom 

requested the prior motion be withdrawn as the bridge was inspected at no cost. The bridge was 

strncturally sound; however, 30 deck boards were decayed and needed replacement. It would be 

an easy fix for the county by removing the nails, sliding out the decaying board and inse1ting the 

new board. Mr. Dobleo agreed the bridge was structurally sound as there was no rotting. The 

bridge was in a county right-of-way (ROW), so the District was not responsible for any repairs 

or liability. Mr. Kinnecom addressed this with the county and in his opinion, the county would 

not take long to repair it as it was a safety issue. 

Mr. Kinnecom reported this morning, St. Johns County Mosquito Control sprayed for 

mosquitos in the drain pits. Ms. Wharton noted areas of concern on the lake bank that had more 

erosion than others and wondered if sod should be placed at edge of the lake bank to be 

proactive. Mr. Dobleo noted significant erosion on the pond bank, especially ones with a 4:1 

slope. They were applying fiber mesh geo-grids underneath the sod. Eventually sod would grow 

on top ofit. 

C. Manager 

There being none, the next item followed. 

D. Operations Manager - Report 

Mr. Stephens presented the Operations Manager Report, which was in the agenda 

package. Ms. Whaiton appreciated staff cleaning the lakes and outfalls prior to Hurricane 

Dorian. Mr. Kinnecom noted the owner of 641 E. Red House Branch Road was pleased with 

their drier backyard. 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments 

There being none, the next item followed. 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisors Requests 

Mr. Kinnecom addressed the following: 

4 



September 19, 2019 Heritage Park CDD 

► Requested for the next agenda discussion on a job description for the Supervisors 

on what was expected by the community, issues the Board should be looking into, 

Sunshine Law issues and compensation. 

Mr. Kinnecom voiced concern about discussing the drainage issue at 641 E. Red House 

Branch Road outside of a meeting. Ms. Whatton did not see any problems if Boat·d Members 

were independently evaluating the site, as it was not a voting issue. Mr. Oliver recommended 

supervisors work independently of each other on matters that may require Board decisions in the 

future. Anytime there is a question regarding Florida's Sunshine Law, District Counsel should be 

consulted. 

► Had continued concerns about changes in the community, whether good or bad 

and requested the HOA Board of Supervisors rescind or revoke a vote they made 

on allowing metal roofs. At 1036 Oak Arbor Circle, the owner had a sheet metal 

roof in back of the home, which was approved by the ARB. In his opinion, a 

metal roof was an adverse activity on real estate in Heritage Park and non

conforming. The owner built a cinder block wall to grow vegetables. 

Ms. Wharton noted this was not a CDD issue. It was a recorded covenant where owners 

were not permitted to have exposed concrete. Mr. Kinnecom was speaking as a resident and was 

going to file a complaint with the Building Department, as it violated the setback. Since it was 

on a county road, it should have a 10-foot setback from any pe1manent structure. There should 

have been an application for a building permit, but none were issued. A roofing company was 

surprised to hear that Heritage Park permitted the metal roof strncture. Ms. Wharton understood 

Mr. Kinnecom's concerns, but read an article where metal roofs increased the value of a home 

and curb appeal. 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Financial Reports 

A. Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues & Expenditures 

Mr. Oliver presented the Unaudited Financial Statements through August 31, 2019. 

According to the Balance Sheet, there was $121,000 in capital reserves. Under total 

expenditures, there was a positive variance of $26,000. Ms. Whatton pointed out on Page 6, the 

Reserve Fund balance was below the Reserve Fund requirement. 

B. Assessment Receipt Schedule 

5 



September 19, 2019 Heritage Park CDD 

Mr. Oliver reported the District was fully connected on its assessments for Fiscal Year 

2019. 

C. Approval of Check Register 

Mr. Oliver presented the Check Register from July 11, 2019 to September 11, 2019 in the 

amount of $127,379.02. 

On MOTION by Mr. Kinnecom seconded by Mr. Feny with all in 
favor the Check Register from July 11, 2019 to September 11, 
2019 in the amount of$127,379.02 was approved. 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Next Scheduled Meeting - November 21, 
2019 at 1:00 p.m. 

Mr. Oliver stated the next scheduled meeting was on November 21, 2019 at 1:00 p.m. at 

this location. 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Adjournment 

On MOTION by Mr. Curran seconded by Ms. Wharton with all in 
favor the meeting was adjourned. 

Secretary/Assistant Secretary ChainnanNice Chairman 

6 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

DATE: 

Hopping Green & Sams 
Attorneys and Counselors 

MEMORANDUM 

Heritage Park Community Development District 
Board of Supervisors 

Carl Eldred 

Updated Provisions of the District's Rules of Procedure 

October 3, 2019 

Please find attached to this memorandum an updated version of the Heritage Park 
Community Development District's ("District's") Rules of Procedure ("Rules"). Several 
substantive revisions were made to maintain consistency between the Rules and the cunent Florida 
Statutes, including changes implemented in the most recent legislative session, as well as to 
facilitate greater efficiency in the operation of the District. An explanation of each material change 
to the Rules is provided below. Minor formatting changes and edits are not discussed. Should you 
have any questions regarding the revisions to the Rules , please do not hesitate to contact me via e
mail at carle@hgslaw.com or via phone at 850-222-7500. 

Costs Associated With Public Records Requests (Pages 8- 9) 

Language was added to Rule 1.2(4) to reflect statuto1y language regarding calculation of 
special charges for responding to certain public records requests, and to state that the District is 
under no duty to produce requested records if the requestor has not paid the required costs or has 
outstanding charges. The language will help minimi ze expenses incurred by the District in 
responding to public records requests. 

Financial Disclosure Coordination (Page 9) 

Rule 1.2(7) was added to maintain consistency with legislation that was passed during the 
2019 legislative session. The rule designates the Secretaiy as the District's Financial Disclosure 
Coordinator ("Coordinator") (unless the District designates otherwise by resolution) and requires 
the Coordinator to create, maintain, and update certain records and provide them to the Florida 
Commission on Ethics by certain deadlines. Each Supervisor or other Reporting Individual must 
notify the Coordinator in writing ifthere are changes to his or her name, e-mail address, or physical 
address, and must notify the Commission on Ethics of changes to his or her e-mail address. 

Agenda and Meeting Materials (Page 11) 

Rule 1.3(3) was amended to reflect statutory requirements that the agenda and meeting 
materials available in an electronic format , excluding confidential and exempt information, shall be 

Post Office Box 6526 Tallahassee, Florida 32314 119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300 (32301) 850.222.7500 850.224.8551 fax www.hgslaw.com 



made available to the public at least seven days before a meeting, hearing, or workshop. The 
amended rule also clarifies circumstances in which the agenda may be amended or additional 
materials added after initial posting. It additionally specifies which documents constitute "meeting 
materials." Documents that do not meet the definition of "meeting materials" may still be provided 
to the Board, but will be considered supplementmy materials and are not required to be made 
available to the public before the meeting. Supplementary materials may include, but are not 
necessarily limited to, the following: financial statements, informational reports, and copies of 
receipts and invoices. 

Flexibility for Bom·d Authorization (Page 13) 

Language was added to Rule 1.3(11) to allow the Board to waive formal approval or 
disapproval procedures. This will allow the Board flexibility to use different procedures when 
necessary and will protect the validity of the Board's actions where there is a technical irregularity 
but the Board has otherwise made its decision clear. 

Security and Firesafety Board Discussions (Page 14) 

Rule 1.3(14) was added to reflect the fact that portions of a meeting which would reveal a 
security or firesafety system plan or portion thereof made confidential and exempt by Florida law 
are exempt from Florida's statutory public meeting requirements. Including this rule will clarify the 
procedures the Board should use to ensure that confidential and exempt information is not made 
public. 

Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse (Page 15) 

Rule 1.4 was added to reflect legislative changes enacted in the 2019 legislative session 
requiring special districts to establish and maintain internal controls to prevent fraud, waste, and 
abuse. Our office plans to work with the District Manager and auditor to develop the internal 
controls, which the Board will adopt in the same manner as it does policies. 

Notice of Competitive Solicitation (Pages 27 and 36) 

Rules 3.1(3) and 3.3(2)(c) have been amended to state that when a consultant has asked to 
be provided with notice of the District's competitive solicitations, the District Manager's failure to 
provide them with a copy of the notice will not give them bid protest rights or otherwise disqualify 
the District's otherwise valid procurement. This will reduce the District's exposure to potential bid 
protests and decrease the likelihood of a procurement being considered invalid due to a technical 
irregularity. 

Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection (Page 31) 

Language has been added to the introductory paragraph to Rule 3 .2 to clarify that the 
District need not use the procedures set out by the Rule for audits required under Chapter 190 of the 
Florida Statutes but which do not meet the thresholds of Chapter 218 of the Florida Statutes. 

Additionally, the requirements for composition of the Auditor Selection Committee in Rule 
3.2(2) have been amended to reflect legislation passed during the 2019 legislative session. Now, at 

2 



least one individual on the Committee must be a member of the Board; the Chairperson of the 
Committee must be a member of the Board; and an employee, chief executive officer, or chief 
financial officer of the District may not be a member of the Committee but may serve in an advisory 
capacity. 

Contract Periods (Pages 34, 56, and 59) 

Rules 3.2(8)(d), 3.8(5), and 3.9(4) have been amended to set the maximum contract period 
for auditing services, the maximum renewal period for contracts for the purchase of goods, supplies, 
materials, and the maximum renewal period for contracts for maintenance services at five (5) years. 
This will provide greater specificity to guide contract terms. 

Suspension, Revocation, or Denial of Qualification (Pages 40-42) 

Rule 3.4(3) has been added to specify the procedures to be used if the District wishes to 
suspend, revoke, or deny a pre-qualified vendor's pre-qualified status. It specifies what constitutes 
good cause for such suspension, revocation, or denial; the effect of the suspension, revocation, or 
denial; hearing procedures the District must follow; and factors influencing the time period of the 
suspension, revocation, or denial. 

Protest Bonds (Pages 61-62) 

Rule 3.1 l(l)(c) has been amended to require that both the requirement for and the amount of 
the protest bond be disclosed in the competitive solicitation documents, and to allow the amount of 
the bond to be any amount within the limits imposed by Florida law. 

3 



Minor Changes 

The following minor changes have also been made to the Rules: 

Rule I.I(!): This Rule has been amended to clarify requirements for Board members appointed or 
elected to elector seats. (Page 2). 

Rule l.1(2)(c) and (d): These Rules have been amended to include the words "at least" before the 
required amounts of the Secretary's or Treasurer's fidelity bonds or employee theft insurance 
policies to accommodate the possibility of greater amounts. (Page 4). 

Rule I. I( 6): This Rule has been amended to include the Florida Constitution as a govermng 
authority on voting conflicts of interest. This change reflects the recently passed Amendment 12 to 
the Florida Constitution. (Pages 5-6). 

Rules 1.3(l)(e), (l)(d), (l)(f); and 3.2(9): These Rules were amended to allow inclusion of language 
substantially similar to that recited in the Rules. (Pages 10-11 and 34). 

Rule 1.3(6): This Rule was amended to require the chair or vice chair to consult with the District 
Manager and District Counsel, if they are available, before calling an emergency meeting. 
(Page 12). 

Rule 2.0(12)(d): This Rule has been amended to allow 90 days instead of 60 days for the Board to 
announce a decision on a petition for variance or waiver of its Rules. (Page 21). 

Rule 3.0(3)(b): The dollar tln·esholds in this Rule have been increased to $2,000,000 for a study 
activity when the fee for such Professional Services to the District does not exceed the increased 
amount of $200,000, to reflect the cunent statutory thresholds. (Page 22). 

Rules 3.1(4)(b), 3.6(2)(c)(ii)6., and 3.8(2)(k): The word "responsive" has been added to allow the 
Board to proceed with evaluating and selecting a proposal from the submissions if it receives fewer 
than three responsive proposals. (Pages 28, 49 and 55). 

Rule 3.2(3)(b): "Understanding of scope of work" has been removed from the list of required 
factors used to evaluate auditing proposals. The District may still include this as an evaluation 
criterion if it wishes, but it is not required to do so. (Page 32). 

Rule 3.2(7)(b): Language has been added to specify that if the Board does not select the highest
ranked qualified auditing firm, it must document in its records its reason for not doing so. (Page 33). 

Rules 3.5(2)(e) and 3.6(2)(c)(ii)3.: "Reemployment assistance" has been added to the non-exclusive 
list of subjects of federal labor or employment laws of which violation may render a contractor 
ineligible to submit a bid, response, or proposal for a District project. (Pages 44 and 48). 

Rule 3.11(6): Language was added specifying that the District may reject all qualifications, 
proposals, replies, or responses and start the competitive solicitation process anew if all of the bids, 
proposals, replies, and responses are too high. (Page 63). 

4 



RESOLUTION 2020-01 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
HERITAGE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT TO 
DESIGNATE THE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
AND AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

WHEREAS, Heritage Park Community Development District ("District") is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District ("Board") is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE HERITAGE PARK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District's Rules of Procedure on 
______ , 20 , at---~ .m., at Heritage Park Amenity Center, 225 Heffernon 
Drive, St. Augustine, Florida 32084. 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 
accordance with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 21'' day of November, 2019. 

ATTEST: 

Secretary/Assistant Secretary 

HERITAGE PARK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Chairman, Board of Supervisors 



RULES OF PROCEDURE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT --------------

1.0 

2.0 

3.0 

4.0 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

General ...................................................................................................................... . 

1.1 

1.2 

1.3 

Boars of St1perYisors; Officers ane:l Voting ................................................. .. 

District Offices; Pt1blic Information ane:l Inspection of Records; Policies; 
SerYice Contract Reqt1irements ..................................................................... . 

Pt1blic Meetings, Hearings, ane:l Workshops ................................................. . 

Rt1lemaking Proceedings .......................................................................................... . 

Competiti•;e Pt1rchase ............................................................................................... . 

3.1 Procee:lt1re Unser The Const1ltants' Competiti,;e Negotiation Act .............. .. 

3.2 Procee:lt1re Regarding At1e:litor Selection ....................................................... . 

3.3 Purchase of Insl:lrance .................................................................................. .. 

3.4 Pre qt1alification ............................................................................................ . 

3.5 Constrnction Contracts, ~fot Design Bt1ile:l ................................................... . 

3.6 Construction Contracts, Design Buile:l ......................................................... .. 

3.7 Pa~·ment ane:l Performance Bonas . ............................................................... .. 

3.8 Gooe:ls, St1pplies, ane:l ~4aterials ................................................................... .. 

3.9 f,,4aintenance Ser;ices ................................................................................... . 

3.10 Contractt1al Services ..................................................................................... . 

3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings t1ne:ler Rt1les 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 
3.5, 3.6, 3.8, ane:l 3.9 ...................................................................................... . 

Effective Date 60 
EFFECTIVE AS OF __ __ ___ , 20 

1 

2 

3 

7 

10 

15 

2 1 

26 

30 

34 

36 

39 

43 

48 

49 

53 

56 

57 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Rule 1.0 General.. ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Rule I.I 

Rule 1.2 

Rule 1.3 

Rule 1.4 

Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting ................................................ 4 

District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 
Service Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination ......... 8 

Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops ............................................. 11 

Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse .............................. 16 

Rule 2.0 Rulemaking Proceedings ............................................................................................ 17 

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase ................................................................................................. 23 

Rule 3.1 

Rule 3.2 

Rule 3.3 

Rule 3.4 

Rule 3.5 

Rule 3.6 

Rule 3.7 

Rule 3.8 

Rule 3.9 

Rule 3.10 

Rule 3.11 

Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act. ........... 28 

Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection ................................................... 32 

Purchase of Insurance ............................................................................... 37 

Pre-qualification ........................................................................................ 39 

Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build ............................................... 44 

Construction Contracts, Design-Build ...................................................... 48 

Payment and Performance Bonds ............................................................. 53 

Goods, Supplies, and Materials ................................................................ 54 

Maintenance Services ............................................................................... 58 

Contractual Services ................................................................................. 62 

Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 
3.6, 3.8, and 3.9 ......................................................................................... 64 

Rule 4.0 Effective Date ............................................................................................................. 67 

2 



Rule 1.0 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

General. 

The_ __________ Community Deve lopment District (the 
"District ") was created pursuant to the provision s of Chapter 190 of the Florida 
Statutes, and was established to provide for the ownership, operation, 
maintenance, and provision of various capital facilities and services within its 
jurisdiction. The purpose of these rules (the "Rules") is to describe the general 
operations of the District. 

Definitions located within any section of these Rules shall be applicable within all 
other sections, unles s spec ifically stated to the contrary. 

Unless specifically permitted by a written agreement with the District, the District 
does not accept docum ents filed by electronic mail or facsimile transmission. 
Filings are only accepted during normal business hours . 

A Rule of the District shall be effective upon adoption by affirmative vote of the 
District Board. After a Rule becomes effective, it may be repealed or amended 
only through the rulemaking procedures specified in these Rule s. 
Notwithstanding, the District may immediately suspend the application of a Rule 
if the District determines that the Rule conflicts with Florida law. In the event 
that a Rule conflicts with Florida law and its application has not been suspended 
by the District, such Rule should be interpreted in the mann er that best effectuates 
the intent of the Rule while also complying with Florida law. If the intent of the 
Rule absolutely cannot be effectuated while complying with F lorida law, the Rule 
shall be automatically suspended. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

3 



Rule 1.1 

(1) 

(2) 

Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting. 

Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors of the District (the "Board") shall 
consist of five (5) members. Members of the Board ("Supervisors") appointed by 
ordinance or rule or elected by landowners must be citizens of the United States 
of America and resident s of the State of Florida. Supervisors elected or appo inted 
by res ident electorsthe Board to elector seats must be citizens of the United States 
of America, residents of the State of Florida and of the District, and registered to 
vote with the Supervisor of Elections of the county in which the District is 
located,-ana and for those elected, sha ll also be qualified to run by the Supervisor 
of Elections. The Board shall exercise the powers granted to the District under 
Florida law. 

(a) Supervisors shall hold office for the term specified by Section 190.006 of 
the Florida Statutes. If, during the term of office, any Board member(s) 
vacates their office, the remaining member(s) of the Board shall fill the 
vacancies by appointment for the remainder of the term(s). If three or 
more vacancies exist at the same time, a quorum, as defined herein, shall 
not be required to appoint replacement Board members. 

(b) Three (3) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the purposes 
of conducting business, exercising powers and all other purposes. A 
Board member shall be counted toward the quorum if physically present at 
the meeting, regardless of whether such Board member is prohibited from, 
or abstains from, participating in discuss ion or voting on a particular item. 

(c) Action taken by the Board shall be upon a majority vote of the members 
present, unless otherwise provided in the Rules or required by law. 
Subject to Rule 1.3(10), a Board member participatin g in the Board 
meeting by teleconference or videoconference - shall be entitled to vote 
and take all other action as though physically present. 

(d) Unless otherwise provided for by an act of the Board , any one Board 
member may attend a mediation session on behalf of the Board. Any 
agreement resulting from such mediation session must be approved 
pursuant to subsection (l)(c) of this Rule. 

Officers. At the first Board meeting held after each election where the newly 
elected members take office, the Board shall select a Chairperson, Vice
Chairperson, Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer. 

(a) The Chairperson must be a member of the Board. If the Chairperson 
resigns from that office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board 
shall select a Chairperson. The Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the 
Board. The Chairperson shall be authorized to execute resolutions and 
contracts on the District's behalf. The Chairperson shall convene and 

4 



conduct all meetings of the Board. In the event the Chairperson is unable 
to attend a meeting, the Vice-Chairperson shall convene and conduct the 
meeting. The Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson may delegate the 
responsibility of conducting the meeting to the District's manager 
("District Manager") or District Counsel, in whole or in part. 

(b) The Vice-Chairperson shall be a member of the Board and shall have such 
duties and responsibilities as specifically designated by the Board from 
time to time. The Vice-Chairperson has the authority to execute 
resolutions and contracts on the District's behalf in the absence of the 
Chairperson. If the Vice-Chairperson resigns from office or ceases to be a 
member of the Board, the Board shall select a Vice-Chairperson. The 
Vice-Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the Board. 

( c) The Secretary of the Board serves at the pleasure of the Board and need 
not be a member of the Board. The Secretary shall be responsible for 
maintaining the minutes of Board meetings and may have other duties 
assigned by the Board from time to time. An employee of the District 
Manager may serve as Secretary. The Secretary shall be bonded by a 
reputable and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one 
million dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee 
theft insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of 
one million dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional 
insured. 

( d) The Treasurer need not be a member of the Board but must be a resident 
of the State of Florida. The Treasurer shall perform duties described in 
Section 190.007(2) and (3) of the Florida Statutes, as well as those 
assigned by the Board from time to time. The Treasurer shall serve at the 
pleasure of the Board. The Treasurer shall either be bonded by a reputable 
and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one million 
dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft 
insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional 
insured. 

(e) In the event that both the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are absent 
from a Board meeting and a quorum is present, the Board may designate 
one of its members or a member of District staff to convene and conduct 
the meeting. In such circumstances, any of the Board members present are 
authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and other documents 
approved by the Board at such meeting. In the event that the Chairperson 
and Vice-Chairperson are both unavailable to execute a document 
previously approved by the Board, the Secretary or any Assistant 
Secretaty may execute such document. 

5 



(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(f) The Board may assign additional duties to District officers from time to 
time, which include, but are not limited to, executing documents on behalf 
of the District. 

(g) The Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and any other person authorized by 
District Resolution may sign checks and warrants for the District, 
countersigned by the Treasurer or other persons authorized by the Board. 

Committees. The Board may establish committees of the Board, either on a 
permanent or temporary basis, to perform specifically designated functions. 
Committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board. Such 
functions may include, but are not limited to, review of bids, proposals, and 
qualifications, contract negotiations, personnel matters, and budget preparation. 

Record Book. The Board shall keep a permanent record book entitled "Record of 
Proceedings," in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, 
proceedings, certificates, and corporate acts. The Records of Proceedings shall be 
located at a District office and shall be available for inspection by the public. 

Meetings. For each fiscal year, the Board shall establish a schedule of regular 
meetings, which shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county in which the District is located and filed with the local general-purpose 
governments within whose boundaries the District is located. All meetings of the 
Board and Committees serving an advisory function shall be open to the public in 
accord with the provisions of Chapter 286 of the Florida Statutes. 

Voting Conflict oflnterest. The Board shall comply with Section 112.3143 of the 
Florida Statutes, so as to ensure the proper disclosure of conflicts of interest on 
matters coming before the Board for a vote. For the purposes of this section, 
"voting conflict of interest" shall be governed by the Florida Const itution and 
Chapters 112 and 190 of the Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time. 
Generally, a voting conflict exists when a Board member is called upon to vote on 
an item which would inure to the Board member's special private gain or loss or 
the Board member knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of a 
principal by whom the Board member is retained, the parent organization or 
subsidiary of a corporate principal, a business associate , or a relative including 
only a father, mother, son, daughter, husband, wife, brother, sister , father-in-law , 
mother-in-law, son-in-law, and daughter-in-law. 

(a) When a Board member knows the member has a conflict of interest on a 
matter coming before the Board , the member should notify the Board's 
Secretary prior to participating in any discussion with the Board on the 
matter. The member shall publicly announce the conflict of interest at the 
meeting. This announcement shall appear in the minutes. 

6 



If the Board member was elected at a landowner's election or appointed to 
fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner's election, the Board 
member may vote or abstain from voting on the matter at issue. If the 
Board member was elected by electors residing within the District, the 
Board member is prohibited from voting on the matter at issue. In the 
event that the Board member intends to abstain or is prohibited from 
voting, such Board member shall not participate in the discussion on the 
item subject to the vote. 

The Board's Secretary shall prepare a Memorandum of Voting Conflict 
(Form 8B) which shall then be signed by the Board member, filed with the 
Board's Secretary, and provided for attachment to the minutes of the 
meeting within fifteen (15) days of the meeting. 

(b) If a Board member inadvertently votes on a matter and later learns he or 
she has a conflict on the matter, the member shall immediately notify the 
Board's Secretary. Within fifteen (15) days of the notification, the member 
shall file the appropriate Memorandum of Voting Conflict, which will be 
attached to the minutes of the Board meeting during which the vote on the 
matter occurred. The Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall immediately 
be provided to other Board members and shall be read publicly at the next 
meeting held subsequent to the filing of the Memorandum of Voting 
Conflict. The Board member's vote is unaffected by this filing. 

( c) It is not a conflict of interest for a Board member, the District Manager, or 
an employee of the District to be a stockholder, officer or employee of a 
landowner or of an entity affiliated with a landowner. 

( d) In the event that a Board member elected at a landowner's election or 
appointed to fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner's election, 
has a continuing conflict of interest, such Board member is permitted to 
file a Memorandum of Voting Conflict at any time in which it shall state 
the nature of the continuing conflict. Only one such continuing 
Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall be required to be filed for each 
term the Board member is in office. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 112,3143, 190.006, 190.007, Fla. Stat. 

7 



Rule 1.2 

(1) 

(2) 

District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 
Service Contract Requirements ; Financial Disclosure Coordination . 

District Offices. Unless otherwise designated by the Board, the official District 
office shall be the District Manager's office identified by the District Manager. If 
the District Manager's office is not located within the county in which the District 
is located , the Board shall designate a local record s office within such county 
which shall at a minimum contain, but not be limited to, the following documents: 

(a) Agenda packages for prior 24 month s and next meet ing; 

(b) Official minutes of meetin gs, including adopted reso lutions of the Board; 

(c) Names and addresses of current Board members and District Manager, 
unl ess such addresses are protected from disclosure by law; 

( d) Adopted engineer's reports; 

(e) Adopted assessment methodologies/reports; 

(f) Adopted disclosure of public financing; 

(g) Limited Offering Memorandum for each financing undertaken by the 
District; 

(h) Proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any and all 
corporate acts; 

(i) District policies and rules; 

(i) Fiscal year end audits; and 

(k) Adopted budget for the current fisca l year. 

The District Manager shall ensure that each District records office contains the 
documents required by Florida law. 

Public Records. District public records include all documents, papers , letters , 
maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings , data proce ss ing 
software , or other material, regardless of the phys ical form, characteristics, or 
means of transmission , made or received in connectio n with the tran saction of 
official business of the District. All District public records not otherwise restri cted 
by law may be copied or inspected at the District Manager's office during regular 
business hours. Certain District records can also be inspected and copied at the 
District's local records office during regular business hours. All written publi c 
records request s sha ll be directed to the Secretary who by these rules is appointed 

8 



(3) 

(4) 

as the District's records custodian. Regardless of the form of the request, any 
Board member or staff member who receives a public records request shall 
immediately forward or communicate such request to the Secretary for 
coordination of a prompt response. The Secretary, after consulting with District 
Counsel as to the applicability of any exceptions under the publi c records laws, 
shall be responsible for responding to the public records reque st. At no time can 
the District be required to create records or summaries of records, or prepare 
opinions regarding District policies, in response to a public record s request. 

Service Contracts. Any contract for services, regardless of cost, sha ll include 
provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public 
records laws. The District Manager shall be respon sible for initiall y enforcing all 
contract provisions related to a contractor's duty to comply with public records 
laws. 

Fees; Copies. Copies of public records sha ll be made available to the requesting 
person at a charge of $0.15 per page for one-sided copies and $0.20 per page for 
two-sided copies if not more than 8 ½ by 14 inches. For copies of public records 
in excess of the sizes listed in this section and for outside duplication services, the 
charge shall be equal to the actual cost of reproduction. Certified copies of public 
records shall be made available at a charge of one dollar ($ 1.00) per page. If the 
nature or volume of records requested requires extensive use of information 
technolo gy resources or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance, the District 
may charge, in addition to the duplication charge, a special service charge that is 
based on the cost the District incurs to produce the records requested. This charge 
may include, but is not limited to, the cost of information technology resource, 
employee labor, and fees charged to the District by consultants employed in 
fulfilling the request. In cases where the special serv ice charge is based in whole 
or in part on the costs incurred by the District due to employee labor , consultant 
fees, or other forms of labor , those portions of the charge shall be calcu lated based 
on the lowest labor cost of the individu al.(fil who is/are qualifi ed to perform the 
labor. taking into acco unt the nature or vo lume of the public reco rds to be 
inspected or cop ied . The charge may include the labor costs of supervisory and/or 
clerical staff whose assis tance is required to complete the reco rds request, in 
acco rdance w ith Florida law. For purposes of this Rule, the word "exte nsive" 
shall mean that it will take more than 15 minutes to locate, rev iew for confidential 
information, copy and re-file the requested material. In cases where extensive 
personnel time is determined by the District to be necessary to safeguard original 
records being inspected, the specia l serv ice charge provided for in the-this section 
shall apply. If the total fees, includin g but not limited to special service charges, 
are anticipated to exceed twenty-five dollars ($25.00), then, prior to commencing 
work on the request, the District will inform the person making the public records 
request of the estimated cost , with the under standin g that the final cost may vary 
from that estimate. If the person making the public records request decides to 
proceed with the request, payment of the estimated cost is required in advance. 
Should the person fail to pay the estimate. the D istrict is under no duty to produce 

9 



(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

the requested records. After the request has been fulfilled , additional payments or 
credits may be due . The District is under no duty to produce records in response 
to future records requests if the person making the request owes the District for 
past unpaid duplication charges, special service charges, or other required 
payments or credits . 

Records Retention. The Secretary of the District sha ll be responsible for retaining 
the District's records in accordance with applicable Florida law. 

Policies. The Board may adopt policies related to the conduct of its business and 
the provision of services either by resolution or motion. 

Financial Disclosure Coordination. Unless specifically designated by Board 
resolution otherwise, the Secretary shall serve as the Financial Disclosure 
Coordinator ("Coordinator") for the District as required by the Flor ida 
Commiss ion on Ethics ("Commission"). The Coordinator shall create, maintain 
and update a list of the names, e-mai l addresses, physical addresses, and names of 
the agency of, and the office or position held by, all Supervisors and other persons 
required by Florida law to file a statement of financial interest due to his or her 
affil iation with the District ("Reporting Individual"). The Coordinator shall 
provide this list to the Commission by February I of each year, which list shall be 
current as of December 31 of the prior year. Each Supervisor and Reporting 
Individual shall prompt ly notify the Coord inator in writing if there are any 
changes to such person 's name, e-mail address, or physical address. Each 
Supervisor and Reporting Individual shall promptly notify the Commiss ion in the 
manner prescribed by the Commission ifthere are any changes to such person's e
mail address. 

Specific Authority : §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 112.31446(3), l 12.3145(8)(a)I., 119.07, 119.0701, 190.006, ~ Fla. Stat. 



Rule 1.3 

(1) 

Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops. 

Notice. Except in emergencies , or as otherwise required by statute or these Rules, 
at least seven (7) days , but no more than thirty (30) days publi c notice shall be 
given of any public meeting, hearing or workshop of the Board. Public notice 
shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the District 
and in the county in which the District is located. "General circulation" means a 
publication that is printed and published at least once a week for the preceding 
year, offering at least 25% of its words in the English language , qualifie s as a 
periodical s material for postal purposes in the county in which the District is 
located , is for sale to the public generally, is available to the public generally for 
the publication of official or other notices, and is customarily containing 
information of a public character or of interest or of value to the resident s or 
owners of property in the county where published , or of interest or of value to the 
general public. The annual meeting notice required to be published by Section 
189.015 of the Florida Statutes, shall be published in a newspaper not of limited 
subject matter, which is published at least five days a week, unless the only 
newspaper in the county is published less than five days a week. Each Notice 
shall state, as applicable: 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

The date, time and place of the meeting, hearing or workshop; 

A brief description of the nature , subjects, and purpos es of the meeting, 
hearing , or workshop; 

The District office address for the submission of requests for copies of the 
agenda, as well as a contact name and telephone number for verbal 
requests for copies of the agenda; and 

The following or substa nt ially similar language: - "P ursuant to provisions 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 
accommodations to participate in this meetin g/hearin g/wo rkshop is asked 
to advise the District Office at least forty-eight ( 48) hours before the 
meeting/hearing/workshop by contacting the District Manager at (_) 
___ ____ . If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact 
the Florida Relay Service at 1 (800) 955-8770 or I (800) 955-8771, who 
can aid you in contacting the District Office." 

The following or substant ially similar language: "A person who decides to 
appeal any decision made at the meeting /hearing /wor kshop with respect to 
any matter considered at the meeting /hearin g/worksho p is advised that 
person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the 
person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 
made includin g the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be 
based." 

11 



(f) The following or substantially similar language:- "The meeting [or hearing 
or workshop] may be continued in progress without additional notice to a 
time, date, and location stated on the record." 

(2) Mistake. In the event that a meeting is held under the incorrect assumption that 
notice required by law and these Rules has been given, the Board at its next 
properly noticed meeting shall cure such defect by considering the agenda items 
from the prior meeting individually and anew. 

(3) Agenda. The District Manager, under the guidance of District Counsel and the 
Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson, shall prepare a ROtioe aRd an agenda of the 
meeting/hearing/workshop. The Rotioe aRd agenda and any meeting materials 
available in an electronic format, excl uding any confide ntial and any confidential 
and exempt information, shall be available to the public at least seYeRty tv,co (72) 
hetH:sseven days before the meeting/hearing/workshop .,, except in an emergency. 
Meet ing materials sha ll be defined as, and limited to, the agenda, meeting 
minutes, reso lutions, and agreements of the District that District staff deems 
necessary for Board approva l. Inclusion of addit iona l mater ials for Boar d 
consideration other than those defined herein as "meeting materials" shall not 
convert such materials into "meet ing materia ls." For good cause, the agenda may 
be changed after it is first made available for distribution , and additional materials 
may be added or provide d under separate cover at the meet ing. The requirement 
of good cause shall be liberally construed to allow the District to efficiently 
conduct business and to avoid the expenses associated with special meetings. 

The District may, but is not required to, use the following format in preparing its 
agenda for its regular meetings: 

Call to order 
Roll call 
Public comment 
Organizational matters 
Review of minutes 
Specific items of old business 
Specific items of new business 
Staff reports 

(a) District Counsel 
(b) District Engineer 
(c) District Manager 

1. Financial Report 
2. Approval of Expenditures 

Supervisor's requests and comments 
Public comment 
Adjournment 

12 



(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

Minutes. The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing and keeping the minutes 
of each meeting of the Board. Minutes shall be corrected and approved by the 
Board at a subsequent meeting. The Secretary may work with other staff 
members in preparing draft minutes for the Board's consideration. 

Special Requests. Persons wishing to receive , by mail , notices or agendas of 
meetings, may so advise the District Manager or Secretary at the District Office. 
Such persons shall furnish a mailing address in writing and shall be required to 
pre-pay the cost of the copying and postage. 

Emergency Meetings. The Chairperson, or Vice-Chairperson if the Chairperson is 
unavailable , upo n consultat ion with the District Man ager and District Counsel, if 
available, may convene an emergency meeting of the Board without first having 
complied with sections (1) and (3) of this Rule, to act on emergency matter s that 
may affect the public health , safety, or welfare. Whenever possible , the District 
Manager shall make reasonable efforts to provide public notice and notify all 
Board members of an emergency meeting twenty-four (24) hours in advance. 
Reasonable efforts may include telephone notification. Notice of the emergency 
meeting must be provided both before and after the meeting on the District's 
website, if it has one. Whenever an emergency meeting is called, the District 
Manager shall be responsible for notifying at least one newspap er of general 
circulation in the District. After an emergency meeting, the Board shall publish in 
a newspaper of general circulation in the District, the time, date and place of the 
emergency meeting, the reasons why an emergency meeting was neces sary~ and a 
description of the action taken. Actions taken at an emergency meeting may be 
ratified by the Board at a regularly noticed meeting subsequently held. 

Public Comment. The Board shall set aside a reasonable amount of time at each 
meeting for public comment and members of the public shall be permitted to 
provide comment on any proposition before the Board. The portion of the 
meeting generally reserved for public comment shall be identified in the agenda. 
Policies governing public comment may be adopted by the Board in accordance 
with Florida law. 

Budget Hearing. Notice of hearing on the annual budget(s) shall be in accord with 
Section 190.008 of the Florida Statutes. Once adopted in accord with Section 
190.008 of the Florida Statutes, the annual budg et(s) may be amended from time 
to time by action of the Board. Approval of invoices by the Board in excess of 
the funds allocated to a particular bud geted line item shall serve to amend the 
budget ed line item. 

Public Hearings. Notice of required public hearin gs shall contain the information 
required by applicable Florida law and by these Rules applicable to meeting 
notices and shall be mailed and publi shed as required by Florida law. The Distri ct 
Manager shall ensure that all such notices, whether mailed or published , contain 
the information required by Florida law and these Rules and are mailed and 

13 



published as required by Florida law. Public hearings may be held during Board 
meetings when the agenda includes such public hearing. 

(10) Participation by Teleconference/Videoconference. District staff may participate 
in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference. Board members may 
also participate in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference if in the 
good judgment of the Board extraordinary circumstances exist; provided however, 
at least three Board members must be physically present at the meeting location to 
establish a quorum. Such extraordinary circumstances shall be presumed when a 
Board member participates by teleconference or videoconference, unless a 
majority of the Board members physically present determines that extraordinary 
circumstances do not exist. 

(11) Board Authorization. The District has not adopted Robert's Rules of Order. For 
each agenda item, there shall be discussion permitted among the Board members 
during the meeting. Unless such procedure is waived by the Board, A_!!pproval or 
disapproval of resolutions and other proposed Board actions shall be in the form 
of a motion by one Board member , a second by another Board member, and an 
affirmative vote by the majority of the Board members present. Any Board 
member, including the Chairperson, can make or second a motion. 

(12) Continuances. Any meeting or public hearing of the Board may be continued 
without re-notice or re-advertising provided that: 

(a) The Board identifies on the record at the original meeting a reasonable 
need for a continuance; 

(b) The continuance is to a specified date, time, and location publicly 
announced at the original meeting; and 

(c) The public notice for the original meeting states that the meeting may be 
continued to a date and time and states that the date, time, and location of 
any continuance shall be publicly announced at the original meeting and 
posted at the District Office immediately following the original meetin g. 

(13) Attorney-Client Sessions. An Attorney- Client Session is permitt ed when the 
District's attorneys deem it necessary to meet in private with the Board to discuss 
pending litigation to which the District is a party before a court or administrative 
agency or as may be authorized by law. The District's attorneysattorney must 
request such sess ion at a public meeting.- Prior to holding the Attorney-Client 
Session, the District must give reasonable public notice of the time and date of the 
session and the names of the persons anticipated to attend the sess ion. - The 
session must commence at an open meeting in which the Chairperson or Vice
Chairperson announces the commencement of the session, the est imated length of 
the session, and the names of the persons who will be attending the session. The 
discussion during the session is confined to settlement negotiations or strategy 

14 



related to litigation expenses or as may be authorized by law. Only the Board, the 
District's attorneys (including outside counsel), the District Manager, and the 
court reporter may attend an Attorney-Client Session. During the session, no 
votes may be taken and no final decisions concerning settlement can be made. 
Upon the conclusion of the session, the public meeting is reopened., and the 
Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson must announce that the session has concluded. 
The session must be transcribed by a court-reporter and the transcript of the 
session filed with the District Secretary within a reasonable time after the session. 
The transcript shall not be available for public inspection until after the 
conclusion of the litigation. 

(14) Security and Firesafety Board Discussions. Portions of a meeting which re late to 
or would reveal a security or firesafety system plan or portion thereof made 
confident ial and exempt by sect ion l 19.07 1(3)(a), Florida Statutes, are exempt 
from the public meet ing requirements and other requirements of section 286.011, 
Florida Statutes, and sect ion 24(b) , Article 1 of the State Constitution. Should the 
Board wish to discuss such matters, members of the pub lic shall be required to 
leave the meeting room during such discussion. Any records of the Board's 
discussion of such matters, including record ings or minutes, shall be maintained 
as confidential and exempt records in accordance with Florida law. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 189.069(2)(a)l6. 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 286.0105, 286.011, 286.0113, 286.0114, Fla. Stat. 

15 



Rule 1.4 Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse 

(1) 

(2) 

Interna l Controls. The District sha ll estab lish and mainta in internal 
controls designed to : 

{a) 

{b) 

{c) 
{d) 
{e) 

Preve nt and detect " fraud," "w aste" and "abuse" as those terms are 
defined in section 11.45(1 ), Florida Statutes; and 
Prom ote and enco urage comp liance with applicab le laws, rules 
contracts, grant agreements, and best pract ices; and 
Support economica l and efficient operat ions; and 
Ensure re liabi lity of fina ncial records and reports; and 
Safeguard assets. 

Adoption. The internal controls to prevent fraud, waste and abuse sha ll be 
adopted and amended by the Distr ict in the same manner as Distr ict 
policies. 

Specific Au thority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.0 11(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Impleme nted: § 218.33(3), Fla. Stat. 

16 



Rule 2.0 

(I) 

(2) 

Rulemaking Proceedings. 

Commencement of Proceedings. Proceedings held for adoption, amendment, or 
repeal of a District rule shall be conducted according to these Rules. Rulemaking 
proceedings shall be deemed to have been initiated upon publication of notice by 
the District. A "rule" is a District statement of general applicability that 
implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy, or describes the procedure or 
practice requirements of the District ("Rule"). Nothing herein shall be construed 
as requiring the District to consider or adopt rules unless required by Chapter 190 
of the Florida Statutes. Policies adopted by the District which do not consist of 
rates, fees, rentals or other monetary charges may be, but are not required to be, 
implemented through rulemaking proceedings. 

Notice of Rule Development. 

(a) Except when the intended action is the repeal of a Rule, the District shall 
provide notice of the development of a proposed rule by publication of a 
Notice of Rule Development in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District before providing notice of a proposed rule as required by section 
(3) of this Rule. Consequently, the Notice of Rule Development shall be 
published at least twenty-nine (29) days prior to the public hearing on the 
proposed Rule. The Notice of Rule Development shall indicate the subject 
area to be addressed by rule development, provide a short, plain 
explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule, cite the specific 
legal authority for the proposed rule, and include a statement of how a 
person may promptly obtain, without cost, a copy of any preliminary draft, 
if available. 

(b) All rules as drafted shall be consistent with Sections 120.54(1)(g) and 
120.54(2)(b) of the Florida Statutes. 

(3) Notice of Proceedings and Proposed Rules. 

(a) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule other than an 
emergency rule, the District shall give notice of its intended action, setting 
forth a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed 
action, a reference to the specific rulemaking authority pursuant to which 
the rule is adopted, and a reference to the section or subsection of the 
Florida Statutes being implemented, interpreted, or made specific. The 
notice shall include a summary of the District's statement of the estimated 
regulatory costs, if one has been prepared, based on the factors set forth in 
Section 120.541(2) of the Florida Statutes, and a statement that any person 
who wishes to provide the District with a lower cost regulatory alternative 
as provided by Section 120.541(1), must do so in writing within twenty
one (21) days after publication of the notice. The notice shall additionally 
include a statement that any affected person may request a public hearing 

17 



by submitting a written request within twenty-one (21) days after the date 
of publication of the notice. Except when intended action is the repeal of 
a rule, the notice shall include a reference to both the date on which and 
the place where the Notice of Rule Development required by section (2) of 
this Rule appeared. 

(b) The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District and each county in which the District is located not less than 
twenty-eight (28) days prior to the intended action. The proposed rule 
shall be available for inspection and copying by the public at the time of 
the publication of notice. 

( c) The notice shall be mailed to all persons named in the proposed rule and to 
all persons who, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such mailing, have 
made requests of the District for advance notice of its rulemaking 
proceedings. Any person may file a written request with the District 
Manager to receive notice by mail of District proceedings to adopt, 
amend, or repeal a rule. Such persons must furnish a mailing address and 
may be required to pay the cost of copying and mailing. ·Notice 1Nill then 
be mailed to all 13ersons whorn, at least fourteen (14) days 13rior to suc h 
rnailing, have rnade requests of the D istrict for ad•,ance not ice of its 
13roceedings. 

(4) Rule Development Workshops. Whenever requested in writing by any affected 
person, the District must either conduct a rule development workshop prior to 
proposing rules for adoption or the Chairperson must explain in writing why a 
workshop is unnecessary. The District may initiate a rule development workshop 
but is not required to do so. 

(5) Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking. All Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking proceedings 
must contain the name, address, and telephone number of the petitioner, the 
specific action requested, the specific reason for adoption , amendment, or repeal, 
the date submitted, the text of the proposed rule, and the facts showing that the 
petitioner is regulated by the District , or has !!_substantial interest in the 
rulemaking. Not later than sixty (60) calendar days following the date of filing a 
petition, the Board shall initiate rulemaking proceedings or deny the petition with 
a written statement of its reasons for the denial. If the petition is directed to an 
existing policy that the District has not formally adopted as a rule, the District 
may, in its discretion, notice and hold a public hearing on the petition to consider 
the comments of the public directed to the policy, its scope and applicati on, and to 
consider whether the public interest is served adequately by the application of the 
policy on a case-by-case basis, as contrasted with its formal adoption as a rule. 
However, this section shall not be construed as requiring the District to adopt a 
rule to replace a policy. 

18 



(6) Rulemaking Materials. After the publication of the notice referenced in section 
(3) of this Rule, the Board shall make available for public inspection and shall 
provide, upon request and payment of the cost of copies, the following materials: 

(a) The text of the proposed rule, or any amendment or repeal of any existing 
rules; 

(b) A detailed written statement of the facts and circumstances justifying the 
proposed rule; 

(c) A copy of the statement of estimated regulatory costs if required by 
Section 120.541 of the Florida Statutes; and 

( d) The published notice. 

(7) Hearing. The District may, or, upon the written request of any affected person 
received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice 
described in section (3) of this Rule, shall, provide a public hearing for the 
presentation of evidence, argument, and oral statements, within the reasonable 
conditions and limitations imposed by the District to avoid duplication, irrelevant 
comments, unnecessary delay, or disruption of the proceedings. The District shall 
publish notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within 
the District either in the text of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule or in 
a separate publication at least seven (7) days before the scheduled public hearing. 
The notice shall specify the date, time, and location of the public hearing, and the 
name, address, and telephone number of the District contact person who can 
provide information about the public hearing. Written statements may be submitted 
by any person prior to or at the public hearing. All timely submitted written 
statements shall be considered by the District and made part of the rulemaking 
record. 

(8) Emergency Rule Adoption. The Board may adopt an emergency rule if it finds 
that immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare exists which 
requires immediate action. Prior to the adoption of an emergency rule, the District 
Manager shall make reasonable efforts to notify a newspaper of general 
circulation in the District. Notice of emergency rules shall be published as soon as 
possible in a newspaper of general circulation in the District. The District may 
use any procedure which is fair under the circumstances in the adoption of an 
emergency rule as long as it protects the public interest as determined by the 
District and otherwise complies with these provisions. 

(9) Negotiated Rulemaking. The District may use negotiated rulemaking in 
developing and adopting rules pursuant to Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida 
Statutes, except that any notices required under Section 120.54(2)(d) of the 
Florida Statutes, may be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county in which the District is located. 

19 



(I 0) Rulemaking Record. In all rulemaking proceedings, the District shall compile 
and maintain a rulemaking record. The record shall include, if applicable: 

(a) The texts of the proposed rule and the adopted rule; 

(b) All notices given for a proposed rule; 

( c) Any statement of estimated regulatory costs for the rule; 

(d) A written summary of hearings, if any, on the proposed rule; 

(e) All written comments received by the District and responses to those 
written comments; and 

(f) All notices and findings pertaining to an emergency rule. 

(11) Petitions to Challenge Existing Rules. 

(a) Any person substantially affected by a rule may seek an administrative 
determination of the invalidity of the rule on the ground that the rule is an 
invalid exercise of the District's authority. 

(b) The petition seeking an administrative determination must state with 
particularity the provisions alleged to be invalid with sufficient 
explanation of the facts or grounds for the alleged invalidity and facts 
sufficient to show that the person challenging a rule is substantially 
affected by it. 

( c) The petition shall be filed with the District. Within IO days after receiving 
the petition, the Chairperson shall, if the petition complies with the 
requirements of subsection (b) of this section, designate any member of 
the Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, 
or other person as a hearing officer who shall conduct a hearing within 30 
days thereafter, unless the petition is withdrawn or a continuance is 
granted by agreement of the parties. The failure of the District to follow 
the applicable rulemaking procedures or requirements in this Rule shall be 
presumed to be material; however, the District may rebut this presumption 
by showing that the substantial interests of the petitioner and the fairness 
of the proceedings have not been impaired. 

(d) Within 30 days after the hearing, the hearing officer shall render a 
decision and state the reasons therefor in writing. 

(e) Hearings held under this section shall be de novo in nature. The petitioner 
has a burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

20 



existing rule is an invalid exercise of District authority as to the objections 
raised. The hearing officer may: 

(i) Administer oaths and affirmations; 

(ii) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 

(iii) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing 
matters; 

(iv) Enter orders; and 

(v) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 

(f) The petitioner and the District shall be adverse parties. Other substantially 
affected persons may join the proceedings as intervenors on appropriate 
terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings. 

(12) Variances and Waivers. A "variance" means a decision by the District to grant a 
modification to all or part of the literal requirements of a rule to a person who is 
subject to the rule. A "waiver" means a decision by the District not to apply all or 
part of a rule to a person who is subject to the rule. Variances and waivers from 
District rules may be granted subject to the following: 

(a) Variances and waivers shall be granted when the person subject to the rule 
demonstrates that the purpose of the underlying statute will be or has been 
achieved by other means by the person, and when application of the rule 
would create a substantial hardship or would violate principles of fairness. 
For purposes of this section, "substantial hardship" means a demonstrated 
economic, technological, legal, or other type of hardship to the person 
requesting the variance or waiver. For purposes of this section, "principles 
of fairness" are violated when the literal application of a rule affects a 
particular person in a manner significantly different from the way it affects 
other similarly situated persons who are subject to the rule. 

(b) A person who is subject to regulation by a District Rule may file a petition 
with the District, requesting a variance or waiver from the District's Rule. 
Each petition shall specify: 

(i) The rule from which a variance or waiver is requested; 

(ii) The type of action requested; 

(iii) The specific facts that would justify a waiver or variance for the 
petitioner; and 

21 



(iv) The reason why the variance or the waiver requested would serve 
the purposes of the underlying statute. 

(c) The District shall review the petition and may request only that 
information needed to clarify the petition or to answer new questions 
raised by or directly related to the petition. If the petitioner asserts that any 
request for additional information is not authorized by law or by Rule of 
the District, the District shall proceed, at the petitioner's written request, to 
process the petition. 

( d) The Board shall grant or deny a petition for variance or waiver, and shall 
announce such disposition at a publicly held meeting of the Board, within 
si> .. ty (60ninety (90) days after receipt of the original petition, the last item 
of timely requested additional material, or the petitioner's written request 
to finish processing the petition. The District's statement granting or 
denying the petition shall contain a statement of the relevant facts and 
reasons supporting the District's action. 

(13) Rates, Fees, Rentals and Other Charges. All rates, fees, rentals, or other charges 
shall be subject to rulemaking proceedings. Policies adopted by the District 
which do not consist of rates, fees, rentals or other charges may be, but are not 
required to be, implemented through rulemaking proceedings. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.035, Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 190.011(5), 190.035(2), Fla. Stat. 

22 



Rule 3.0 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

Competitive Purchase. 

Purpose and Scope. In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), 
287.055 and 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, the following provisions shall apply 
to the purchase of Professional Services, insurance, construction contracts, 
design-build services, goods, supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and 
maintenance services. 

Board Authorization. Except in cases of an Emergency Purchase, a compet itive 
purchase governed by these Rules sha ll only be undertaken after authorization by 
the Board. 

Definitions. 

(a) "Competitive Solicitation" means a forma l, advertised procurement 
process, other than an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, or 
Invitation to Negotiate, approved by the Board to purchase commodities 
and/or services which affords vendors fa ir treatment in the competition for 
award of a District purchase contract. 

(b) "Continuing Contract" means a contract for Professional Services entered 
into in accordance with Section 287.055 of the Florida Statutes, between 
the District and a firm, whereby the firm provides Professional Services to 
the District for projects in which the costs do not exceed ooetwo million 
dollars ($+b000,000), for a study activity when the fee for such 
Professional Services to the District does not exceed fiftynyo hundred 
thousand dollars ($W200, 000), or for work of a specified nature as 
outlined in the contract with the District, with no time limitation except 
that the contract must provide a termination clause (for example, a 
contract for general District engineering services). Firms providing 
Professional Services under Continuing Contracts shall not be required to 
bid against one another. 

(c) "Con tractual Service" means the rendering by a contractor of its time and 
effort rather than the furnishing of specific commodities . The term applies 
only to those services rendered by individuals and firms who are 
independent contractors. Contractual Services do not include auditing 
services, Maintenance Service s, or Professional Services as defined in 
Sect ion 287.055(2)(a) of the Florida Statutes, and these Rules. 
Contractual Services also do not include any contract for the furnishing of 
labor or materials for the construction , renovation, repair, modification, or 
demolition of any facility, building, portion of building, utility, park , 
parking lot, or structure or other improvement to real property entered into 
pursuant to Chapter 255 of the Florida Statutes, and Ru les 3.5 or 3.6. 

23 



(d) "Design-Build Contract" means a single contract with a Design-Build 
Firm for the design and construction of a public construction project. 

(e) "Design-Build Firm" means a pattnership, corporation or other legal entity 
that: 

(i) Is certified under Section 489.119 of the Florida Statutes, to 
engage in contracting through a certified or registered general 
contractor or a certified or registered building contractor as the 
qualifying agent; or 

(ii) Is certified under Section 471.023 of the Florida Statutes, to 
practice or to offer to practice engineering; certified under Section 
481.219 of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice 
architecture; or certified under Section 481.319 of the Florida 
Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice landscape architecture. 

(f) "Design Criteria Package" means concise, performance-oriented drawings 
or specifications for a public construction project. The purpose of the 
Design Criteria Package is to furnish sufficient information to permit 
Design-Build Firms to prepare a bid or a response to the District's Request 
for Proposals, or to permit the District to enter into a negotiated Design
Build Contract. The Design Criteria Package must specify performance
based criteria for the public construction project, including the legal 
description of the site, survey information concerning the site, interior 
space requirements, material quality standards, schematic layouts and 
conceptual design criteria of the project, cost or budget estimates, design 
and construction schedules, site development requirements, provisions for 
utilities, stormwater retention and disposal, and parking requirements 
applicable to the project. Design Criteria Packages shall require firms to 
submit information regarding the qualifications, availability, and past 
work of the firms, including the partners and members thereof. 

(g) "Design Criteria Professional" means a firm who holds a current 
certificate of registration under Chapter 481 of the Florida Statutes, to 
practice architecture or landscape architecture, or a firm who holds a 
current certificate as a registered engineer under Chapter 4 71 of the 
Florida Statutes, to practice engineering, and who is employed by or under 
contract to the District to provide professional architect services, 
landscape architect services, or engineering services in connection with 
the preparation of the Design Criteria Package. 

(h) "Emergency Purchase" means a purchase necessitated by a sudden 
unexpected turn of events (for example, acts of God, riot, fires, floods, 
hurricanes, accidents, or any circumstances or cause beyond the control of 
the Board in the normal conduct of its business), where the Board finds 

24 



that the delay incident to competitive purchase would be detrimental to the 
interests of the District. This includes, but is not limited to, instances 
where the time to competitively award the project will jeopardize the 
funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or 
will create an undue hardship on the public health, safety, or welfare. 

(i) "Invitation to Bid" is a written solicitation for sealed bids with the title, 
date, and hour of the public bid opening designated specifically and 
defining the commodity or service involved. It includes printed 
instructions prescribing conditions for bidding, qualification, evaluation 
criteria, and provides for a manual signature of an authorized 
representative. It may include one or more bid alternates. 

G) "Invitation to Negotiate" means a written solicitation for competitive 
sealed replies to select one or more vendors with which to commence 
negotiations for the procurement of commodities or services. 

(k) "Negotiate" means to conduct legitimate, arm's length discussions and 
conferences to reach an agreement on a term or price. 

(I) "Professional Services" means those services within the scope of the 
practice of architecture, professional engineering, landscape architecture, 
or registered surveying and mapping, as defined by the laws of Florida, or 
those services performed by any architect, professional engineer, 
landscape architect, or registered surveyor and mapper, in connection with 
the firm's or individual's professional employment or practice. 

(m) "Proposal (or Reply or Response) Most Advantageous to the District" 
means, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, the proposal, 
reply, or response that is: 

(i) Submitted by a person or firm capable and qualified in all respects 
to perform fully the contract requirements, who has the integrity 
and reliability to assure good faith performance; 

(ii) The most responsive to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation as determined by the Board; 
and 

(iii) For a cost to the District deemed by the Board to be reasonable. 

(n) "Purchase" means acquisition by sale, rent, lease, lease/purchase, or 
installment sale. It does not include transfer, sale, or exchange of goods, 
supplies, or materials between the District and any federal, state, regional 
or local governmental entity or political subdivision of the State of 
Florida. 

25 



(o) "Request for Proposals" or "RFP" is a written solicitation for sealed 
proposals with the title, date, and hour of the public opening designated 
and requiring the manual signature of an authorized representative. It may 
provide general information, applicable laws and rules, statement of work, 
functional or general specifications, qualifications, proposal instructions, 
work detail analysis, and evaluation criteria as necessary. 

(p) "Responsive and Responsible Bidder" means an entity or individual that 
has submitted a bid that conforms in all material respects to the Invitation 
to Bid and has the capability in all respects to fully perform the contract 
requirements and the integrity and reliability that will assure good faith 
performance. "Responsive and Responsible Vendor" means an entity or 
individual that has submitted a proposal, reply, or response that conforms 
in all material respects to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and has the capability in all respects 
to fully perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability 
that will assure good faith performance. In determining whether an entity 
or individual is a Responsive and Responsible Bidder (or Vendor), the 
District may consider, in addition to factors described in the Invitation to 
Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, the following: 

(i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 
by the entity/individual; 

(ii) The past performance of the entity/individual for the District and in 
other professional employment; 

(iii) The willingness of the entity/individual to meet time and budget 
requirements; 

(iv) The geographic location of the entity's/individual's headquarters 
or office in relation to the project; 

(v) The recent, current, and projected workloads of the 
entity/individual; 

(vi) The volume of work previously awarded to the entity/individual; 

(vii) Whether the cost components of the bid or proposal are 
appropriately balanced; and 

(viii) Whether the entity/individual is a certified minority business 
enterprise. 

26 



(q) "Responsive Bid," "Responsive Proposal," "Responsive Reply," and 
"Responsive Response" all mean a bid, proposal, reply, or response which 
conforms in all material respects to the specifications and conditions in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation document and these Rules, and the cost 
components of which, if any, are appropriately balanced. A bid, proposal, 
reply or response is not responsive if the person or firm submitting it fails 
to meet any material requirement relating to the qualifications, financial 
stability, or licensing of the bidder. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 190.033, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 

27 



Rule 3.1 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

Procedure Under +hethe Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act. 

Scope. The following procedures are adopted for the selec tion of firms or 
individuals to provide Professional Services exceeding the thresholds herein 
described , for the negotiation of such contracts, and to provide for prote st of 
actions of the Board under this Rule. As used in this Rule, "P roject " means that 
fixed capital outlay study or planning activity when basic construction cost is 
estimated by the District to exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 
287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FIVE , or for a plannin g study 
activity when the fee for Professional Services is estimated by the District to 
exceed the threshold amount provid ed in Section 287.017 for CATEGORY TWO , 
as such categories may be amended or adjusted from time to time. 

Qualifying Procedure s. In order to be eligible to provide Professional Services to 
the District, a consultant must, at the time of receipt of the firm's qualification 
submittal: 

(a) 

(b) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

Hold all requir ed applicable federal licenses in good standing , if any; 

Ho ld all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing; 

Hold a ll required applicab le federa l licenses in good standing, if any; 

Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do 
business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 
Florida Statutes, if the consultant is a corporation; and 

Meet any qualification requirement s set forth in the District's Reque st for 
Qualifications. 

Evidence of compliance with this Rule may be submitted with the qualifications, 
if requested by the District. In addition, evidence of compliance must be 
submitted any time requested by the District. 

Public Announcem ent. Except in cases of valid public emergencies as certified 
by the Board, the District shall announce each occasion when Professional 
Services are required for a Project or a Continuing Contract by publi shing a notic e 
providin g a genera l description of the Project, or the nature of the Continuing 
Contract , and the method for interested consultants to apply for consideration. 
The notice shall appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the 
District and in such other places as the District deems appropriate. The notice 
must allow at least fou rteen (14) days for submittal of qualification s from the date 
of publication. The District may maintain lists of consultants intere sted in 
receiv ing suc h notices . These consultants are encoura ged to submit annually 
stateme nts of qualifications and performa nce data . Consultants who pro•ride their 
name and address to the District Manager for inc lusion on the list shall recei·,e 

28 



(4) 

notices by mail.The District shall make reaso nab le efforts to prov ide copies of 
any notices to such consu ltants, but the fai lure to do so sha ll not give such 
consultants any bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqua lify any otherwise 
valid procurement process . The Board has the right to reject any and all 
qualifications, and such reservation shall be included in the published notice. 
Consultants not receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to recover from 
the District any costs of qualification package preparation or subm ittal. 

Competitive Selection. 

(a) The Board shall review and evaluate the data submitted in response to the 
notice described in sect ion (3) of this Rule regarding qualifications and 
performance ability, as well as any statements of qualifications on file. 
The Board shall conduct discussions with, and may require public 
presentation by consultants regarding their qualifications, approach to the 
Project, and ability to furnish the required serv ices. The Board shall then 
se lect and list the consultants, in order of preference, deemed to be the 
most highly capable and qualified to perform the required Professional 
Services, after considering these and other appropriate criteria: 

(i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 
by each consultant; 

(ii) Whether a consultant is a certified minority business ente rpri se; 

(iii) Each consultant's past performance; 

(iv) The willingness of each consultant to meet time and budget 
requirements; 

(v) The geographic location of each consultant's headquarters, office 
and personnel in relation to the project; 

(vi) The recent, current , and projected workloads of each consultant; 
and 

(vii) The volume of work previously awarded to each consultant by the 
District. 

(b) Nothing in these Rules shall prevent the District from eva luatin g and 
eventually se lecting a consultant if less than three (3) Responsive 
qualification packages, including packages indicating a desire not to 
provide Professional Services on a given Project , are received. 

( c) If the selection process is administered by any person or committee other 
than the full Board, the se lection made wi ll be presented to the full Board 

29 



(5) 

with a recommendation that competitive negotiations be instituted with the 
selected firms in order of preference listed. 

(d) Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the rejection of 
some or all qualification packages, shall be provided in writing to all 
consultants by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 
delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: 
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those 
Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District',s ranking 
decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set 
forth in Rule 3.11. 

Competitive Negotiation. 

(a) After the Board has authorized the beginning of competitive negotiations, 
the District may begin such negotiations with the firm listed as most 
qualified to perform the required Professional Services at a rate or amount 
of compensation which the Board determines is fair, competitive, and 
reasonable. 

(b) In negotiating a lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional contract 
for more than the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the 
Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, the firm receiving the award 
shall be required to execute a truth-in-negotiation certificate stating that 
"wage rates and other factual unit costs supporting the compensation are 
accurate, complete and current at the time of contracting." In addition, 
any professional service contract under which such a certificate is 
required, shall contain a provision that "the original contract price and any 
additions thereto, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by 
which the Board determines the contract price was increased due to 
inaccurate, incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and other factual unit 
costs. 11 

(c) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 
the firm determined to be the most qualified at a price deemed by the 
District to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then negotiations with that 
firm shall be terminated and the District shall immediately begin 
negotiations with the second most qualified firm. If a satisfactory 
agreement with the second firm cannot be reached, those negotiations 
shall be terminated and negotiations with the third most qualified firm 
shall be undertaken. 

(d) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 
one of the top three (3) ranked consultants, additional firms shall be 
selected by the District, in order of their competence and qualifications. 

30 



Negotiations shall continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the 
list, until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

(6) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

(7) Continuing Contract. Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a Continuing Contract 
between a consultant and the District. 

(8) Emergency Purchase. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these Rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred 
or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190,033,287.055, Fla. Stat. 

31 



Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection. 

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 218.391 of the Florida Statutes, the 
following procedures are outlined for selection of firms or individuals to provide 
Audit ing Services and for the negotiation of such contracts. For audit s requir ed under 
Chapter 190 of the Flor ida Statutes but not meeting the thresho lds of Chapter 2 18 of the 
Flor ida Statutes, the Distr ict need not follow these proce dures but may proceed w ith the 
se lectio n of a firm or individual to provide Auditing Services and for the negotiat ion of 
such contracts in the manne r the Board determines is in the best interests of the District. 

(1) Definitions. 

(2) 

(3) 

(a) "Auditing Services" means those services within the scope of the practice 
of a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of the 
Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 
government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of 
Accountancy. 

(b) "Committee" means the itt:ldttaudit or selection committee appointed by the 
Board as described in section (2) of this Rule. 

Estab lishment of Aoo-itAuditor Se lection Committee. Prior to a public 
announcement under sect ion ( 4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are required , 
the Board shall establish an itt:ldttauditor selection committee ("Committee"), the 
primary purpose of which is to assist the Board in se lect ing an auditor to conduct 
the annual financial audit required by Section 218.39 of the Florida Statutes. The 
Comm ittee shet!Msha ll include at least three individuals, some or alla t least one of 
whom maywhich must also serye as membersbe a member of the Board. The 
establishment and selection of the Committee must be conducted at a publicly 
noticed and held meeting of the Board. The Cha irperson of th e Co mmitt ee must 
be a member of the Board . An employee, a chief execut ive officer , or a ch ief 
financial offi ce r of the District may not serve as a member of the Co mmittee; 
provided howeve r such individual may serve the Co mmitt ee in an advisory 
capac ity. 

Estab lishment of Minimum Qualifications and Eva luation Criteria. Prior to a 
public announcement under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Service s are 
required , the Committee shall meet at a publicly noticed meeting to estab lish 
minimum qualifications and factors to use for the evaluation of Auditing Services 
to be provided by a certified public acco unting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of 
the Florida Statutes , and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 
government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy . 

(a) Minimum Qualifications. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a 
firm must, at all relevant times including the time of receipt of the 
proposal by the District: 

32 



(4) 

(i) Hold all required applicable federalstate professiona l licenses in 
good stand ing, if any ; 

(ii) Hold all required applicable state professionalfedera l licenses in 
good standing , if any ; 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a 
corporation; and 

(iv) Meet any pre-qualification requirements established by the 
Committee and set forth in the RFP or other specifications . 

If requested in the RFP or other specifications, evidence of compliance 
with the minimum qualifications as established by the Committee must be 
submitted with the proposal. 

(b) Evaluation Criteria. The factors established for the evaluation of Auditing 
Services by the Committee shall include, but are not limited to: 

(i) Ability of personnel; 

(ii) Experience; 

(iii) Understand ing of seope of work; 

(iv) Ability to furnish the required services; and 

(¥iv ) Such other factors as may be determined by the Committee to be 
applicable to its particular requirements. 

The Committee may also choose to consider compensation as a factor. If the 
Committee establishes compensation as one of the factors, compensation shall not 
be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals. 

Public Announcement. After identifying the factors to be used in evaluating the 
proposals for Auditing Services as set forth in section (3) of this Rule, the 
Committee shall publicly announce the opportunity to provide Auditing Services. 
Such public announcement shall include a brief description of the audit and how 
interested firms can apply for consideration and obtain the RFP . The notice shall 
appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and the 
county in which the District is located. The public announcement shall allow for 
at least seven (7) days for the submission of proposals. 

33 



(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

Request for Proposals. The Committee shall provide interested firms with a 
Request for Proposals ("RFP"). The RFP shall provide information on how 
proposals are to be evaluated and such other information the Committee 
determines is necessary for the firm to prepare a proposal. The RFP shall state the 
time and place for submitting proposals. 

Committee's Evaluation of Proposals and Recommendation. The Committee 
shall meet at a publicly held meeting that is publicly noticed for a reasonable time 
in advance of the meeting to evaluate all qualified proposals and may, as part of 
the evaluation, require that each interested firm provide a public presentation 
where the Committee may conduct discussions with the firm, and where the firm 
may present information, regarding the firm's qualifications. At the public 
meeting, the Committee shall rank and recommend in order of preference no 
fewer than three firms deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the 
required services after considering the factors established pursuant to subsection 
(3)(6) of this Rule. If fewer than three firms respond to the RFP or if no firms 
respond to the RFP, the Committee shall recommend such firm as it deems to be 
the most highly qualified. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may 
recommend that any and all proposals be rejected. 

Board Selection of Auditor. 

(a) Where compensation was not selected as a factor used in evaluating the 
proposals, the Board shall negotiate with the firm ranked first and inquire 
of that firm as to the basis of compensation. If the Board is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the first ranked firm at a price 
deemed by the Board to be fair, competitive , and reasonable, then 
negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the Board shall 
immediately begin negotiations with the second ranked firm. If a 
satisfactory agreement with the second ranked firm cannot be reached, 
those negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations with the third 
ranked firm shall be undertaken. The Board may reopen formal 
negotiations with any one of the three top-ranked firms, but it may not 
negotiate with more than one firm at a time. If the Board is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory agreement with any of the selected firms, the 
Committee shall recommend additional firms in order of the firms' 
respective competence and qualifications. Negotiations shall continue, 
beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an agreement is 
reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

(b) Where compensation was selected as a factor used in evaluating the 
proposals, the Board shall select the highest-ranked qualified firm:-.....QI 
docum ent in its public records the reason for not se lecting the highest
ranked qualified firm. 

34 



( c) In negotiations with firms under this Rule , the Board may allow the 
District Manager, District Counsel, or other designee to conduct 
negotiations on its behalf. 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may reject any or all proposals. 
The Board shall not consider any proposal, or enter into any contract for 
Auditing Services, unless the proposed agreed-upon compensation is 
reasonable to satisfy the requirements of Section 218.39 of the Florida 
Statutes, and the needs of the District. 

(8) Contract. Any agreement reached under this Ru le shall be evidenced by a written 
contract , which may take the form of an engagement letter signed and executed by 
both parties. The written contract shall include all provisions and conditions of 
the procurement of such services and shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

(9) 

(a) A provision specifying the services to be provided and fees or other 
compensation for such services; 

(b) A provision requiring that invoices for fees or other compensation be 
submitted in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance with the terms of 
the contract; 

(c) A provision setting forth deadlines for the auditor to submit a preliminary 
draft audit report to the District for review and to submit a final audit 
report no later than ~J une 30 of the fiscal year that follows the fiscal 
year for which the audit is being conducted; 

( d) A provision specifying the contract period, including renewals ~ and 
conditions under which the contract may be terminated or renewed. The 
maxim um contract period inc luding renewa ls sha ll be five (5) years . A 
renewal may be done without the use of the auditor selection procedures 
provided in this Rule, but must be in writing. 

(e) Provisions required by law that require the auditor to comply with public 
records laws. 

Notice of Award. Once a negotiated agreement with a firm or individual is 
reached, or the Board authori zes the execution of an agreement with a firm where 
compensation was a factor in the evaluation of proposals , notice of the intent to 
award, including the rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 
writing to all proposers by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile , or 
overnight delivery service . The notice shall include the following statement: 
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of 
the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or 
wording to that effect. Protests regarding the award of contracts under this Rule 

35 



shall be as provided for in Rule 3 .11. No proposer shall be entitled to recover any 
costs of proposal preparation or submittal from the District. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 218.33. 218.391, Fla. Stat. 

36 



Rule 3.3 

(1) 

(2) 

Purchase of Insurance. 

Scope. The purchases of life, health, accident, hospitalization, legal expense, or 
annuity insurance, or all of any kinds of such insurance for the officers and 
employees of the District, and for health, accident, hospitalization, and legal 
expenses upon a group insurance plan by the District, shall be governed by this 
Rule. This Rule does not apply to the purchase of any other type of insurance by 
the District, including but not limited to liability insurance, property insurance , 
and directors and officers insurance. Nothing in this Rule shall require the District 
to purchase insurance. 

Procedure. For a purchase of insurance within the scope of these Rules , the 
following procedure shall be followed: 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Notice oflnvitation to Bid. 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid shall be advertised at least once m a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District. The notice shall allow 
at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of bids. 

(c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Invitations to Bid. Persons who proYide their narne and address to the 
District Manager for inclusion on the list shall reeeiYe notices by mail.The 
District sha ll make reasonable efforts to provide copies of any notices to 
such persons, but the failure to do so shall not give such consultants any 
bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqualify any otherwise valid 
procurement process. 

(d) Bids shall be opened at the time and place noted in the Invitation to Bid. 

(e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation is received, the District may 
proceed with the purchase. If no response to an Invitation to Bid is 
received, the District may take whatever steps are reasonably necessary in 
order to proceed with the purchase. 

(f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids and such reservations 
shall be included in all solicitations and advertisements. 

(g) Simultaneously with the review of the submitted bids, the District may 
undertake negotiations with those companies that have submitted 
reasonable and timely bids and, in the opinion of the District, are fully 
qualified and capable of meeting all services and requirements. Bid 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the specifications and 
criteria contained in the Invitation to Bid; in addition, the total cost to the 
District, the cost , if any, to the District officers, employees, or their 
dependents, the geographic location of the company's headquarters and 

37 



offices in relation to the District, and the ability of the company to 
guarantee premium stability may be considered. A contract to purchase 
insurance shall be awarded to that company whose response to the 
Invitation to Bid best meets the overall needs of the District, its officers, 
employees, and/or dependents. 

(h) Notice of the intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, shall 
be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, by hand 
delivery, or by overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the 
following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed 
in Rule 3 .11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 
proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the 
District's procurement of insurance under this Rule shall be in accordance 
with the procedures set forth in Rule 3 .11. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: § 112.08, Fla, Stat. 

38 



Rule3.4 

(I) 

(2) 

Pre-qualification 

Scope. In its discretion, the District may undertake a pre-qualification process in 
accordance with this Rule for vendors to provide construction services, goods, 
supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and maintenance services. 

Procedure. When the District seeks to pre-qualify vendors, the following 
procedures shall apply: 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Request for Qualifications. 

(b) For construction services exceeding the thresholds described in Section 
255.20 of the Florida Statutes, the Board must advertise the proposed pre
qualification criteria and procedures and allow at least seven (7) days 
notice of the public hearing for comments on such pre-qualification 
criteria and procedures. At such public hearing, potential vendors may 
object to such pre-qualification criteria and procedures. Following such 
public hearing, the Board shall formally adopt pre-qualification criteria 
and procedures prior to the advertisement of the Request for Qualifications 
for construction services. 

( c) The Request for Qualifications shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located. The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of qualifications for goods, supplies and materials, 
Contractual Services, maintenance services, and construction services 
under two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000). The notice shall 
allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of qualifications for 
construction services estimated to cost over two hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($250,000) and thirty (30) days for construction services estimated 
to cost over five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000). 

( d) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Requests for Qualifications. The District shall make a good faith effort 
to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any pre-qualification 
determination or contract awarded in accordance with these Rules and 
shall not be a basis for a protest of any pre-qualification determination or 
contract award. 

( e) If the District has pre-qualified vendors for a particular category of 
purchase, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been 
pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies or 

39 



responses in response to the applicable Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

(f) In order to be eligible to submit qualifications, a firm or individual must, 
at the time ofreceipt of the qualifications: 

(i) Hold thea ll required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing; 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 
any; 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes , if the vendor is a corporation; 
and 

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Request for Qualifications . 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the 
qualifications if required by the District. Failure to submit evidence of 
compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
qualifications. 

(g) Qualifications shall be presented to the Board , or a committee appointed 
by the Board, for evaluation in accordance with the Request for 
Qualifications and this Rule. Minor variations in the qualifications may be 
waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does 
not create a competitive advantag e or disadvantage of a materia l nature. 

(h) All vendors determined by the District to meet the pre-qualification 
requirements shall be pre-qualified . To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the requirements contained in a Request for 
Qualifications, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors. 
Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with 
respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of qualifications. 
For construction services, any contractor pre-qualified and considered 
eligible by the Department of Transportation to bid to perform the type of 
work the project entails shall be presumed to be qualified to perform the 
project. 

(i) The Board shall have the right to reject all qualifications if there are not 
enough to be competitive or if rejection is determined to be in the best 
interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of 
qualification preparation or submittal from the District. 

40 



(3) 

G) Notice of intent to pre-qualify , including rejection of some or all 
qualifications, shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States Mail, 
electronic mail , hand delivery, facsimile , or overnight delivery service. The 
notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a protest within the 
time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver 
of proceedings under those Rules ," or wording to that effect. Protests of the 
District's pre-qualification decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11; provided however, protests related to the 
pre-qualification criteria and procedures for construction services shall be 
resolved in accordance with section (2)(b) of this Rule and Section 255.20(1)(b) 
of the Florida Statutes. 

Suspension, Revocation, or Denial of Qualification 

(a) The District, for good cause, may deny, suspend, or revoke a prequalified 
vendor's pre-qua lified status. A suspension, revocation, or denial for good 
cause shall prohibit the vendor from bidding on any District construction 
contract for wh ich qua lification is required, shall constitute a determination of 
non-responsibility to bid on any other District construction or maintenance 
contract, and sha ll prohibit the vendor from acting as a materia l supplier or 
subcontractor on any District contract or pro ject during the period of 
suspens ion, revocation, or denial. Good cause shall include the fo llowing: 

1. One of the circumstances spec ified under Sect ion 337.16(2), Fla. Stat., 
has occurred. 

11. Affi liated contractors subm itted more than one proposal for the same 
work. In this event the pre-qualified status of all of the affi liated 
bidders w ill be revoked, suspended, or denied. All bids of affiliated 

· bidders will be rejected . 

111. The vendor made or submitted false, deceptive, or fraudulent 
statements, certifications, or materials in any claim for payment or any 
information required by any District contract. 

1v. The vendor or its affiliate defaul ted on any contract or a contract 
surety assumed contro l of financial responsibility for any contract of 
the vendor. 

v. The vendor's qua lificat ion to bid is suspended, revoked , or denied by 
any other public or semi -pub lic entity, or the vendor has been the 
subject of a civil enforcement proceeding or settlement invo lving a 
public or semi-p ublic ent ity. 

v1. The vendor fai led to com ply with contract or warranty requireme nts or 
fa iled to follow District direction in the performance of a contract. 

41 



vii. The vendor failed to timely furnish all contract documents required by 
the contract specifications, special provisions, or by any state or 
federa l statutes or regulation s. If the vendor fails to furnish any of the 
subject contract documents by the expiration of the period of 
suspens ion, revocation, or denial set forth above, the vendor's pre
quali fied status shall remain suspended, revoked, or denied until the 
documents are furnished . 

v111. The vendor failed to notify the District within IO days of the vendor, 
or any of its affiliates, being declared in default or otherwise not 
completing work on a contract or being suspe nded from qualification 
to bid or denied qual ification to bid by any other public or semi-public 
agency. 

1x. The vendor did not pay its subcontractors or suppli ers in a timely 
manner or in compl iance with contract documents. 

x. The vendor has demonstrated instance s of poor or unsat isfactory 
performance, deficient management resulting in project delay, poor 
qua lity workmanship, a history of payment of liquidated damage s, 
untimely compl etion of projects, uncooperative attitude, contract 
litigation, inflated claim s or defaults. 

x1. An affi liate of the vendor has previou sly been determ ined by the 
District to be non-responsible , and the specified period of suspension, 
revocat ion, denial, or non-responsibili ty remains in effect. 

x11. The vendor or affi liate(s) has been convicted of a contract crime. 

1. The term "co ntract crime" means any violation of state or 
federal antitrust laws with respect to a public contract or any 
violat ion of any state or federal law involving fraud, bribery , 
collusion, conspiracy, or material misrepresentation w ith 
respect to a pub lic contract. 

2. The term "co nvicted " or "conviction" mean s a findi ng of guilt 
or a conv iction of a contract cr ime, with or without an 
adjudication of gui lt, in any federal or state trial co urt of record 
as a result of a jury verdict, non jury trial, or entry of a plea of 
guilty or nolo contendere . 

(b) A denial, suspension, or revocation shall prohibit the vendor from be ing a 
subcontra ctor on District wor k during the period of denial, suspe nsion, or 
revocat ion, except when a prime contractor's bid has used pr ices of a 
subcontractor who becomes disqua lified afte r the bid , but before the request 
for author ization to sublet is presented. 

42 



(c) The District shall inform the vendor in writing of its intent to deny, suspend, 
or revoke its pre-qualified status and inform the vendor of its right to a 
hearing, the procedure which must be followed, and the applicab le time limits. 
If a hearing is requested within IO days after the receipt of the notice of intent, 
the hearing shall be held within 30 days after receipt by the Distr ict of the 
request for the hearing. The decision shall be issued within 15 days after the 
hearing . 

(d) Such suspension or revocation shall not affect the vendor ' s obligations under 
any preexisting contract. 

(e) In the case of contract cr imes, the vendor's pre-qualified status under this 
Rule shall be revoked indefinitely. For all violations of Ru le 3.4(3)(a) other 
than for the vendor ' s conviction for contract crimes, the revocation, denial, or 
suspension of a vendor 's pre-qualified status under this Rule shall be for a 
specific period of time based on the seriousness of the deficiency. 

Examp les of factors affecting the seriousness of a deficiency are: 

i. Impacts on project schedule, cost, or quality of work; 

ii. Unsafe conditions allowed to exist; 

111. Complaint s from the public; 

iv. Delay or interference with the bidding process; 

v. The potential for repetition; 

v1. Integrity of the pub I ic contracting process; 

vii. Effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the public . 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla . Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 190.033, 255.0525, 255.20, Fla. Stat. 

43 



Rule 3.5 

(I) 

(2) 

Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build. 

Scope. All contracts for the construction or improvement of any building, 
structure, or other public construction works authorized by Chapter 190 of the 
Florida Statutes, the costs of which are estimated by the District in accordance 
with generally accepted cost accounting principles to be in excess of the threshold 
amount for applicability of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as that amount 
may be indexed or amended from time to time, shall be let under the terms of 
these Rules and the procedures of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as the 
same may be amended from time to time. A project shall not be divided solely to 
avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

Procedure. When a purchase of construction services is within the scope of this 
Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the District and in the county in which 
the District is located. The notice shall also include the amount of the bid 
bond, if one is required. The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) 
days for submittal of sealed bids, proposals, replies, or responses, unless 
the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is 
appropriate. Any project projected to cost more than five hundred 
thousand dollars ($500,000) must be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the date for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses. If the 
Board has previously pre-qualified contractors pursuant to Rule 3 .4 and 
determined that only the contractors that have been pre-qualified will be 
permitted to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses, the Notice of 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation need not be published. Instead, the Notice of 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation shall be sent to the pre-qualified contractors by 
United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. 

( c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
oflnvitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations. The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award. 

44 



( d) If the District has pre-qualified providers of construction services, then, at 
the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 
will be eligible to submit bids, proposals , replies, or responses to 
Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations. 

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 
or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses: 

(i) Hold theall required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing; 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 
any; 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation; 
and 

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation. 

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any violation of 
federal labor or employment tax laws regarding subjects sueh asincluding 
but not limited to, reemployment assistance, safety, tax withholding, 
worker's compensation, unemployment tax, social security and Medicare 
tax, wage or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the past 5 years may be 
considered ineligible by the District to submit a bid, response , or proposal 
for a District project. 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply, or response, if required by the District. Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses, or the portions of which that 
include the price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 
accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district representative 
is present. The name of each bidder and the price submitted in the bid 
shall be announced at such meeting, and shall be made available upon 
request. Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the 
District. Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be evaluated in 

45 



accordance with the respective Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 
Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and these Rules. 
Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, or responses may be 
waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does 
not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature. 
Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board. 
Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; 
provided however, additional information may be requested and/or 
provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, 
clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida 
law. 

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted by a Responsive and Responsible 
Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid shall be accepted. In relation to 
a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 
Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 
most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 
may be conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses. 

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District. No contractor shall be 
entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, response, or reply 
preparation or submittal from the District. 

(i) The Board may require potential contractors to furnish bid bonds, 
performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board. 

(i) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses, shall be provided in writing to all 
contractors by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 
delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement: 
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3. II of the 
Rules of the District sball constitute a waiver of proceedings under those 
Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District's purchase of 
construction services under this Rule shall be in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 3 .11. 

46 



(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 
are received , the District may purchase construction services or may reject 
the bids , proposals, replies , or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If 
no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District 
may take wJ:iate•,rer steps reasonably neeessary in order to proceed with the 
procurement of construction services, in the manner the Board determines 
is in the best interests of the District, which steps- may include but is not 
limited to a direct purchas e of the construction services without further 
competitive selection processes. 

Sole Source; Government. Construction services that are only available from a 
single source are exempt from this Rule. Construction services provided by 
governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule. This Rule shall not apply to 
the purchase of construction services, which may include goods, supplies, or 
material s, that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract 
that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government 
in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules. 
A contract for construction services is exempt from this Rule if state or federal 
law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is 
established during the appropriation process. 

Contracts; Public Records. In accordanc e with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board Meeting . 

Exceptions. This Rule is inapplicable when: 

(a) The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 
facility; 

(b) The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 
time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 
available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent; 

( c) The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 
abandoned the project or the District has terminated the 
eontraetorcontract ; or 

( d) The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 
286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 
that it is in the public 's best interest to perform the project using its own 
services, employees , and equipment. 

47 



Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build. 

(1) Scope. The District may utilize Design-Build Contracts for any public 
construction project for which the Board determines that use of such contract is in 
the best interest of the District. When letting a Design-Build Contract, the District 
shall use the following procedure: 

(2) Procedure. 

(a) The District shall utilize a Design Criteria Professional meeting the 
requirements of Section 287.055(2)(k) of the Florida Statutes, when 
developing a Design Criteria Package, evaluating the proposals and 
qualifications submitted by Design-Build Firms, and determining 
compliance of the project construction with the Design Criteria Package. 
The Design Criteria Professional may be an employee of the District, may 
be the District Engineer selected by the District pursuant to Section 
287.055 of the Florida Statutes, or may be retained pursuant to Rule 3.1. 
The Design Criteria Professional is not eligible to render services under a 
Design-Build Contract executed pursuant to the Design Criteria Package. 

(b) A Design Criteria Package for the construction project shall be prepared 
and sealed by the Design Criteria Professional. If the project utilizes 
existing plans, the Design Criteria Professional shall create a Design 
Criteria Package by supplementing the plans with project specific 
requirements, if any. 

(c) The Board may either choose to award the Design-Build Contract pursuant 
to the competitive proposal selection process set forth in Section 
287.055(9) of the Florida Statutes, or pursuant to the qualifications-:based 
selection process pursuant to Rule 3 .1. 

(i) Qualifications-Based Selection. If the process set forth in Rule 3.1 
is utilized, subsequent to competitive negotiations, a guaranteed 
maximum price and guaranteed completion date shall be 
established. 

(ii) Competitive Proposal-Based Selection. If the competitive proposal 
selection process is utilized, the Board, in consultation with the 
Design Criteria Professional, shall establish the criteria, standards 
and procedures for the evaluation of Design-Build Proposals based 
on price, technical, and design aspects of the project, weighted for 
the project. After a Design Criteria Package and the standards and 
procedures for evaluation of proposals have been developed, 

48 



competitive proposals from qualified firms shall be solicited 
pursuant to the design criteria by the following procedure: 

1. A Request for Proposals shall be advertised at least once in 
a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which 
the District is located. The notice shall allow at least 
twenty-one (21) days for submittal of sealed proposals , 
unless the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter 
period of time is appropriate. Any project projected to cost 
more than five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) must 
be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date for 
submittal of proposals. 

2. The District may maintain lists of persons interested in 
receiving notices of Requests for Proposals. The District 
shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by 
electronic mail, United States Mail, hand delivery, or 
facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However , 
failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate 
any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and 
shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award. 

3. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm must, at 
the time of receipt of the proposals: 

a. Hold the required applicable state professional 
licenses in good standing, as defined by Section 
287.055(2)(h) of the Florida Statutes; 

b. Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good 
standing, if any; 

c. Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter 
or be authorized to do business in the State of 
Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 
Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a corporation; 

d. Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set 
forth in the Request for Proposals and Design 
Criteria Package. 

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any 
violation of federal labor or employment tax laws regarding 
subject~ sueh asincluding but not limited to reemployment 
ass istance, safety, tax withholding, worker's compensation, 

49 



unemployment tax, social security and Medicare tax, wage 
or hour , or prevailing rate laws within the past 5 years may 
be considered ineligible by the District to submit a bid, 
response, or proposal for a District project. 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be 
submitted with the proposal if required by the District. 
Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required 
may be grounds for rejection of the proposal. 

4. The proposals, or the portions of which that include the 
price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 
accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district 
representative is present. The name of each bidder and the 
price submitted in the bid shall be announced at such 
meeting, and shall be made available upon request. 
Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by 
the District. In consultation with the Design Criteria 
Professional, the Board shall evaluate the proposals 
received based on evaluation criteria and procedure s 
established prior to the solicitation of proposals, including 
but not limited to qualifications, availability, and past work 
of the firms and the partners and members thereof . The 
Board shall then select no fewer than three (3) Design
Build Firms as the most qualified. 

5. The Board shall have the right to reject all proposals if the 
proposa ls are too high, or rejection is determined to be in 
the best interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled 
to recover any costs of proposal preparation or submittal 
from the District. 

6. If less than three (3) proposa lsResponsive Proposa ls are 
received, the District may purchase design-build serv ices or 
may reject the proposals for lack of competitiveness. If no 
proposa lsRespons ive Proposa ls are received , the District 
may take v,rhatever steps reasonab ly necessary in order to 
proceed with the procurement of design-build servicesJn 
the manner the Board determ ines is in the best interests of 
the District, which ~ may include but is not limited to a 
direct purchase of the design-build services without further 
competitive selection processes. 

7. Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the 
rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 
writing to all consultants by United States Mail, hand 

50 



delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. The 
notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to 
file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 
proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect. 
Protests of the District 's rankings under this Rule shall be 
in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

8. The Board shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranking 
the highest based on the evaluation standards and shall 
establish a price which the Board determines is fair, 
competitive and reasonable. Should the Board be unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm conside'red to 
be the most qualified at a price considered by the Board to 
be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that 
firm must be terminated. The Board shall then undertake 
negotiations with the second most qualified firm, based on 
the ranking by the evaluation standards. failiAg 
aeeemShould the Board be unable to negotiate a 
sat isfactory contract with the- firm considered to be the 
second most qualified firm, the Board at a price considered 
by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, 
negotiations with that firm must termiAate AegotiatioAs. be 
terminated. The Board shall then undertake negotiations 
with the third most qualified firm. Should the Board be 
unab le to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm 
considered to be the third most qualified at a price 
considered by the Board to be fair, competitive, and 
reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be terminated. 
Should the Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory 
contract with any of the selected firms, the Board shall 
select additional firms in order of their rankings based on 
the evaluation standards and continue negotiations until an 
agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

9. After the Board contracts with a firm, the firm shall bring 
to the Board for approval, detailed working drawings of the 
project. 

10. The Design Criteria Professional shall evaluate the 
compliance of the detailed working drawings and project 
construction with the Design Criteria Package , and shall 
provide the Board with a report of the same. 

51 



(3) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

(4) Emergency Purchase. The Board may, in case of public emergency, declare an 
emergency and immediately proceed with negotiations with the best qualified 
Design-Build Firm available at the time. The fact that an Emergency Purchase 
has occurred shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

(5) Exceptions. This Rule is inapplicable when: 

(a) The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 
facility; 

(b) The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 
time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 
available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent; 

(c) The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 
abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contractor; or 

(d) The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 
286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 
that it is in the public's best interest to perform the project using its own 
services, employees, and equipment. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla, Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 

52 



Rule 3.7 

(2) 

(3) 

Payment aud Performance Bonds. 

Scope. This Rule shall apply to contracts for the construction of a public 
building, for the prosecution and completion of a public work, or for repairs upon 
a public building or public work; and shall be construed in addition to terms 
prescribed by any other Rule that may also apply to such contracts. 

Required Bond. Upon entering into a contract for any of the services described in 
section (!) of this Rule in excess of $200,000, the Board should require that the 
contractor, before commencing the work, execute and record a payment and 
performance bond in an amount equal to the contract price. Notwithstanding the 
terms of the contract or any other law, the District may not make payment to the 
contractor until the contractor has provided to the District a certified copy of the 
recorded bond. 

Discretionary Bond. At the discretion of the Board, upon entering into a contract 
for any of the services described in section (1) of this Rule for an amount not 
exceeding $200,000, the contractor may be exempted from executing a payment 
and performance bond. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat, 
Law Implemented: § 255.05, Fla. Stat. 

53 



Rule 3.8 

(1) 

(2) 

Goods, Supplies, and Materials. 

Purpose and Scope. All purchases of goods , supplies, or materials exceeding the 
amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY 
FOUR , shall be purchased under the terms of this Rule. Contracts for purchases 
of "goods, supplies, and materials" do not include printing, insurance, advertising, 
or legal notices. A contract involving goods, supplies, or materials plus 
maintenance services may, in the discretion of the Board , be treated as a contract 
for maintenance services. However, a purchase shall not be divided solely in 
order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

Procedure. When a purchase of goods, supplies , or materials is within the scope 
of this Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid , Reque st for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located. The notice shall also include the amount 
of the bid bond, if one is required. The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies , or responses. 

(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate , or 
Competitive Solicitations. The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice , by electronic mail, United States Mail , hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award. 

( d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of goods, supplies, and materials, 
then, at the option of the District , only those persons who have been pre
qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals , replies, or responses. 

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal , reply, or response, a firm 
or individual must, at the tim e of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies , or 
responses: 

(i) Hold #tea l! required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing; 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standin g, if any ; 

54 



(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 
to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 
of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation. 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply or response if required by the District. Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

Any firm or individual whose principal place of business is outside the 
State of Florida must also submit a written opinion of an attorney at law 
licensed to practice law in that foreign state, as to the preferences, if any or 
none, granted by the law of that foreign state to business entities whose 
principal places of business are in that foreign state, in the letting of any or 
all public contracts. Failure to submit such a written opinion or 
submission of a false or misleading written opinion may be grounds for 
rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 
and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 
to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation 
to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, and this Rule. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, 
or responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver 
of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of 
a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be 
corrected by the Board. Bids and proposals may not be modified or 
supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information 
may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non
material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as 
otherwise permitted by Florida law. 

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid, after taking into account the preferences 
provided for in this subsection, submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be 
accepted. If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a 
foreign state which does not grant a preference in competitive purchase to 
businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the 

55 



(h) 

(i) 

(j) 

(k) 

lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of 
business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference of five (5) 
percent. If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a 
foreign state which grants a preference in competitive purchase to 
businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the 
lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of 
business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference equal to 
the preference granted by such foreign state. 

To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation 
requirements contained in an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 
Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be 
conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals , replies , and 
responses. 

The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District. No vendor shall be 
entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response 
preparation or submitta l from the District. 

The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 
performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board. 

Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors 
by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 
service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Fa ilure to file 
a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3 .11 of the Rules of the 
District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules ," or 
word ing to that effect. Protests of the District's purchase of goods, 
supplies , and materials under this Rule sha ll be in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 3 .11. 

If less than three (3) bids, proposals , repliesResponsive Bids , Proposa ls, 
Replies, or responsesResponses are received, the District may purchase 
goods, supplies, or materials, or may reject the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, 
Reply, or Response is received, the District may take whate>,•er steps 
reasonably neeessary in order to proceed with the procurement of goods, 
supplies, and materials, in the manner the Board determines is in the best 

56 



interests of the District, which 5teps--may include but is not limited to a 
direct purchase of the goods, supplies, and materials without further 
competitive selection processes. 

(3) Goods, Supplies, and Materials included in a Construct ion Contract Awarded 
Pursuant to Rule 3.5 or 3.6. There may be occasions where the District has 
under gone the competitive purchase of construction services which contract may 
include the provision of goods, supplies, or materials. In that instance, the 
District may approve a change order to the contract and directly purchase the 
goods, supp lies, and materials. Such purchase of goods, supplies, and materials 
deducted from a competitively purchased construction contract shall be exempt 
from this Rule. 

(4) Exemption . Goods, supplies, and materials that are only available from a single 
source are exempt from this Rule. Goods, supplies, and materials provided by 
governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule. A contract for goods, supp lies, 
or materials is exempt from this Rule if state or federa l law prescribes with whom 
the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the 
appropriation process. This Rule shall not apply to the purchase of goods, 
supplies or materials that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government 
contract that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local 
government in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of 
these Rules. 

(5) Renewal. Contracts for the purchase of goods, supplies, and/or materials subject 
to this Rule may be renewed for a period that may not eirneed three (3) years or 
the term of the origina l contract, whiehe·,er period is longera maxim um per iod of 
five (5) years . 

(6) Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
comp lying with these rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implcmcntecl: §§ 189.053, 190.033, 287.017, 287.084, Fla. Stat. 

57 



Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services. 

(1) Scope. All contracts for maintenanc e of any District facility or project shall be set 
under the terms of this Rule if the cost exceeds the amount provid ed in Section 
287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR . A contract involving 
goods, supplies, and materials plus maintenanc e services may, in the discret ion of 
the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance services. However, a purchase 
shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the threshold bidding requirem ents. 

(2) Procedure. When a purchase of maintenance services is within the scope of this 
Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation w ithin the District and within the county 
in which the District is located. The notice shall also include the amount 
of the bid bond, if one is required. The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or response s. 

(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receivin g notices 
of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations. The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list. However , failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award. 

( d) If the District has pre-qualifi ed suppliers of maintenance services, then, at 
the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 
will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses . 

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 
or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses: 

(i) Hold thea ll required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing; 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 

58 



(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 
to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 
of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation. 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply, or response if required by the District. Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 
and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 
to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation 
to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, and these Rules. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, 
replies, and responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor 
if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or 
disadvantage of a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of 
pricing may be corrected by the Board. Bids and proposals may not be 
modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional 
information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, 
make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and 
as otherwise permitted by Florida law. 

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted in response to an Invitation to Bid 
by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder shall be accepted. In relation to 
a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate or Competitive 
Solicitation the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 
Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 
most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 
may be conducted with qualified vendors. Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses. 

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District. No Vendor shall be 

59 



(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(i) 

(j) 

(k) 

entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response 
preparation or submittal from the District. 

The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 
performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board. 

Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors 
by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 
service. The notice shall include the following statement: "Failure to file a 
protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3 .11 of the Rules of the District 
shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to 
that effect. Protests of the District's procurement of maintenance services 
under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in 
Rule 3.11. 

If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 
are received, the District may purchase the maintenance services or may 
reject the bids, proposals, replies , or responses for a lack of 
competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is 
received, the District may take ·whate¥er steps reasonabl)' necessary in 
order to proceed with the procurement of maintenance services , in the 
manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which 
~ may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the 
maintenance services without further competit ive selection processes. 

Exemptions. Maintenance services that are only available from a single source 
are exempt from this Rule. Maintenance services provided by governmenta l 
agencies are exempt from this Rule. A contract for maintenance services is 
exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District 
must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the appropriat ion 
process. 

Renewal. Contracts for the purchase of maintenance services subject to this Rule 
may be renewed for a period tkat may not ex.ceed tkree (3) years or tke term of tke 
original contract, whiche•,rer period is longer. a maximum period of five (5) years . 

Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these rules. The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033, Fla. Stat. 

60 



Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 190,033,287.017, Fla. Stat. 

61 



Rule 3.10 

(2) 

Contractual Services. 

Exemption from Competitive Purchase. Pursuant to Section 190.033(3) of the 
Florida Statutes, Contractual Services shall not be subject to competitive 
purchasing requirements. If an agreement is predominantly for Contractual 
Services, but also includes maintenance services or the purchase of goods and 
services, the contract shall not be subject to competitive purchasing requirements. 
Regardless of whether an advertisement or solicitation for Contractual Services is 
identified as an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, 
or Competitive Solicitation, no rights or remedies under these Rules, including 
but not limited to protest rights, are conferred on persons, firms, or vendors 
proposing to provide Contractual Services to the District. 

Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract for 
Contractual Services shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, Fla. Stat, 

62 



RHle 3.11 Prnlesls With ResfJeet Ta Praeeedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3 .3, 
3.4, 3.S, 3.(J, 3.8, and 3.9. 

63 



Rule 3.11 Protests 
with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9. 

The resolution of any protests with respect to proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 
3.8, and 3.9 shall be in accordance with this Rule. 

(1) Filing. 

(a) 

(b) 

With respect to a protest regarding qualifications, specifications, 
documentation, or other requirements contained in a Request for 
Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 
Solicitation issued by the District, the notice of protest shall be filed in 
writing within seventy-two (72) calendar hours ( excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays, and state holidays) after the first advertisement of the Request 
for Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 
Solicitation. A formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and 
law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) 
calendar days (including Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the 
initial notice of protest was filed. For purposes of this Rule, wherever 
applicable, filing will be perfected and deemed to have occurred upon 
receipt by the District. Failure to file a notice of protest shall constitute a 
waiver of all rights to protest the District's intended decision. Failure to 
file a forma l written protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest 
proceedings and shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings. 

Except for those situations covered by subsection (l)(a) of this Rule, any 
firm or person who is affected adversely by a District's ranking or 
intended award under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9 and 
desires to contest the District's ranking or intended award, shall file with 
the District a written notice of protest within seventy-two (72) calendar 
hours (excluding Saturdays , Sundays, and state holidays) after receipt of 
the notice of the District's ranking or intended award. A formal protest 
setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is 
based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days (including Saturdays, 
Sundays, and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed. 
For purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected 
and deemed to have occurred upon receipt by the District. Failure to file a 
notice of protest shall constitute a waiver of all rights to protest the 
District's ranking or intended award. Failure to file a formal written 
protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest proceedings and 
shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings. 

-- --- ~(f€6i+)--++If (c) If the requirement for the posting of a protest 
bond and the amount of the protest bond, which may be expressed by a 
percentage of the contract to be awarded or a set amount, is disclos ed in 
the District's competitive solicitation documents for a particular purchase 
under Rules 3.1, 3.2 , 3.3 , 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9, the Board may require 

64 



any person who files a notice of protest temust post a the protest bond--tft 
the. The amount equa l to 1 % of the aRtieipated eoRtraet amouRt that is the 
sub:jeet of the protest bond shall be determined by District staff after 
consultation with the Board and within the limits, if any, imposed by 
Florida law. In the event the protest is successful, the protest bond shall 
be refunded to the protestor. In the event the protest is unsuccessful , the 
protest bond shall be applied towards the District 's costs, expenses, and 
attorney's fees associated with hearing and defending the protest. In the 
event the protest is settled by mutual agreement of the parties, the protest 
bond shall be distributed as agreed to by the District and protestor. 

( d) The District does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or 
facsimile transmission. Filings are only accepted during normal business 
hours. 

(2) Contract Execution. Upon receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely 
filed, the District shall not execute the contract under protest until the subject of 
the protest is resolved. However , if the District sets forth in writing particular 
facts and circumstances showing that delay incident to protest proceedings will 
jeopardize the funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the 
project, or will create an immediate and serious danger to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, the contract may be executed. 

(3) Informal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest does not involve a 
disputed issue of material fact, the Board may, but is not obligated to, schedule an 
informal proceeding to consider the protest. Such informal proceeding shall be at 
a time and place determined by the Board. Notice of such proceeding shall be 
sent via facsimile, United States Mail, or hand delivery to the protestor and any 
substantially affected persons or parties not less than three (3) calendar days prior 
to such informal proceeding. Within thirty (30) calendar days following the 
informal proceeding, the Board shall issue a written decision setting forth the 
factual, legal, and policy grounds for its decision. 

(4) Formal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest involves disputed issues of 
material fact or if the Board elects not to use the informal proceeding process 
provided for in section (3) of this Rule, the District shall schedule a formal 
hearing to resolve the protest. The Chairperson shall designate any member of the 
Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, or other 
person as a hearing officer to conduct the hearing. The hearing officer may: 

(a) Administer oaths and affirmations; 

(b) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 

(c) Regulate the course of the hearing , includin g any pre-hearing matter s; 

65 



( d) Enter orders; and 

(e) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 

The hearing officer shall, within thirty (30) days after the hearing or receipt of the 
hearing transcript, whichever is later, file a recommended order which shall 
include a caption, time and place of hearing , appearances entered at the hearing, 
statement of the issues, findings of fact and conclusions of law, separately stated, 
and a recommendation for final District action. The District shall allow each 
party fifteen (15) days in which to submit written exceptions to the recommended 
order. The District shall issue a final order within sixty (60) days after the filing 
of the recommended order. 

(5) Intervenors. Other substantially affected persons may Jom the proceedings as 
intervenors on appropriate terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings. 

(6) Rejection of all Qualifications, Bids, Proposals, Replies and Responses after 
Receipt of Notice of Protest. If the Board determines there was a violation of law, 
defect~ or an irregularity in the competitive solicitation process , the Bids, 
Proposa ls, Replies, and Response s are too high, or if the Board determines it is 
otherwise in the District's best interest, the Board may reject all qualifications, 
bids, proposals, replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation 
process anew. If the Board decides to reject all qualifications , bids, proposals , 
replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation process anew, any 
pending protests shall automatically terminate. 

(7) Settlement. Nothing herein shall preclude the settlement of any protest under this 
Rule at any time. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: § 190.033, Fla. Stat. 

66 



Rule 4.0 Effective Date. 

These Rules shall be effective _ _ ____ , ~2..Q_,_ except that no election of · 
officers required by these Rules shall be required until after the next regular election for the 
Board. 

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 

67 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



PROSSER 
Creative Visionaries. Engineering Minds'" 

October 4, 2019 

Teresa Viscara 
Heritage Park Community Development District CDD 
c/o Governmental Management Services 
475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, FL 32092 

RE: Prosser, Inc. 2018 Updated Rate Schedule 

Dear Ms. Viscara: 

13901 Sutton Park Drive South, Suite 200 
Jacksonvil le, Florida 32224-0119 

p 904. 739.3655 f 904.730.3413 
www.prosserinc.com 

After analyzing our cunent rates with the Heritage Park Community Development District (HPCDD), which 
have been in effect since August 1, 2018, we have found it necessary to increase rates to our current standa rd 
professional rates. These adjustments are being made to accommodate increases in personnel costs and to enab le 
us to serve the HPCDD well by continuing to attract the most highly qualified professiona ls in our service areas. 
Please note that these new rates went into effect in August, 2018, however, due to our long-s tanding relationship 
with the HPCDD we have maintained the original agreed upon rates as long as fiscally possible. 

We appreciate the trust you have placed in Prosser and look forward to continuing to fulfill your design needs in 
the futme. Please review the attached rates for presentation and approval at the next Board meeting. 

If you have any questions or require additiona l information, please feel free to contact our office. 

Sincerely, 

PROSSER, INC. 

Ryan P. Stilwell, PE 
Princ ipal 

Enc losure: 20 18 Rate Schedule 



PROSSERTM 
Hourly Rate Schedule 
Effective August 1, 2018 

Planning & Engineering 
Principal 

Project Director 

Project Manager 

Senior Engineer 

Engineer 

Senior Planner & Senior Landscape Architect 

Planner & Landscape Architect 

Senior Graphic Arts Director 

Graphic Art Designer 

Senior Designer 

Designer 

CADD Technician 

Clerical 

Adm ini strative Support 

Project & Business Services 

Project Administrator 

Sr. Project Researc her 

Project Researcher 

Sr. Public Relations Liaison 

Technical Writer 

Information Services 

Programmer 

Information Systems 

GIS Programmer 

GIS Analyst 

GIS Technician 

CEI/Construction Management Services 

Resident Engineer 

Construction Project Manager 

Sr. Construction Inspector 

Construction Inspecto r 

$210 

$185 

$160 

$150 

$130 

$150 

$130 

$150 

$110 

$130 

$100 

$85 

$60 

$85 

$140 

$135 

$130 

$150 

$100 

$135 

$135 

$135 

$130 

$110 

$150 

$140 

$ 95 

$ 85 

ALL REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES SHALL BE COST TIMES A FACTOR OF 1.15 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D. 



Heritage Park Community Development District 
475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine, FL 32092 

 

Memorandum 

 
Date:           November 2019 

 

To:  Rich Whetsel  via email 

  Operations Director 

 

From: Brian Stephens 

  Operations Manager 

 

Re:  Heritage Park CDD 

           Managers Memorandum    

                  
The following is a summary of activities related to the field operations of the Heritage 

Park Community Development District. 

                                                    

Landscaping: 

1. Yellowstone has completed an inspection of the pond irrigation. 

2. RMS and Yellowstone are conducting monthly landscape inspections. 

3. Yellowstone repaired the bank washout on pond 1800 and added Bahia sod. 

 

Retention Ponds:  

1. Ponds levels are slightly below normal. 

2. Future Horizons continues to keep the ponds in good condition. 

3. The fountain timers are being checked and adjusted weekly. 

4. Multiple GFCI outlets have been reset for the pond fountains. 

5. The fountain timer in pond 100 has been replaced. 

6. Two (2) fountains in pond 800 have been repaired and reinstalled. 

7. The fountain in pond 1800 has been repaired. 

8. All of the fountain timers have been adjusted for Daylight Savings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

If you have any questions or comments, please feel free to contact 

Brian Stephens at (904)627-9271 or Rich Whetsel at (904) 759-8923. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



• • • • • • • • • • • 

• 

• • • • ••••• 

Heritage Park 
Community Development District 

• • • 

Unaudited Financial Reporting 

October 31, 2019 

• • • • • • • • • • 

• 

• 



Assets 

Cash 
State Board of Administration 
Prepaid Expenses 
Investments: 

Operating Account 
Series 2013 

Reserve 
Revenue 
Prepayment 

jT ota I Assets 

liabilities 

Accounts Payable 

Fund Equity. Other Credit!i 

Fund Balances: 
Unassigned 
Restricted for Debt Service 
Assigned for Capital Reserve 

jTotal Liabilities, Fund Equity 

HERITAGE PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

COMBINED BALANCE SHEET 
October 31, 2019 

GovernmentaLFurn:I Totals 
(memorandum only) 

Genernl Dgbt_S_endi:e Capital Reserve 2020 

$15,911 

$30 

$82,944 

$98,885 

$2,892 

$95,992 

$98,885 

$192,807 
$137,347 

$10,102 

$340,256 

$340,256 

$340,256 

$20,903 
$100,571 

----------

----------

----------
----------
----------

$121,474 

$121,474 

$121,474 

$36,813 
$100,571 

$30 

$82,944 

$192,807 
$137,347 

$10,102 

$560,615 J 

$2,892 

$95,992 
$340,256 
$121,474 

$560,615 ] 



HERITAGE PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

GENERAL FUND 

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures 

For Period Ending October 31, 2019 

GENERAL FUND PRORATED BUDGET ACTUAL 

BUDGET THRU 10/31/19 THRU 10/31/19 VARIANCE 

REVENUES: 

Assessments Tax Roi! $255,225 $0 $0 $0 

Interest Income $25 $2 $11 $9 

TOTAL REVENUES $255,250 $2 $11 $9 I 

EXPENDITURES: 

ADMINISTRATIVE: 

Supervisors Fees $6,000 $0 $0 $0 

FICA Expense $459 $0 $0 $0 

Engineer $7,500 $625 $0 $625 

Arbitrage Rebate $450 $0 $0 $0 

Dissemination Agreement $1,000 $83 $83 $0 

District Counsel $16,000 $1,333 $0 $1,333 

Financial Advisory Services $7,500 $7,500 $7,500 $0 

Auditing Services $3,400 $500 $500 $0 

Trustee Fees $4,500 $0 $0 $0 

Management Fees $52,635 $4,386 $4,386 $0 

Information Technology $1,800 $150 $165 ($15) 

Telephone $125 $10 $0 $10 

Postage $750 $63 $11 $51 

Printing and Binding $1,000 $83 $90 ($7) 

Insurance $7,100 $7,100 $6,566 $534 

Legal Advertising $1,200 $100 $0 $100 

Other Current Charges $1,000 $83 $48 $36 

Office Supplies $500 $42 $18 $24 

Dues, Licenses, Subscriptions $175 $175 $175 $0 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE $113,094 $22,234 $19,542 $2,6921 

MAINTENANCE: 

Field Operations $10,300 $858 $858 $0 

Property Insurance $600 $600 $524 $76 

Landscape Maintenance $35,325 $2,944 $2,944 $0 

Landscape Contingency $6,000 $500 $0 $500 

Irrigation Repairs $1,000 $83 $0 $83 

Lake Maintenance $23,340 $1,945 $1,945 $0 

Lake Contingency $7,000 $583 $947 ($364) 

Utllity Service $17,000 $1,417 $1,324 $93 

Street Lights $40,000 $3,333 $3,002 $332 

Common Area Maintenance $10,000 $833 $0 $833 

Contingency $5,000 $417 $0 $417 

Operating Reserve $15,000 $1,250 $0 $1,250 

Transfer Out- Capital Reserve $16,078 $0 $0 $0 

TOTAL MAINTENANCE $186,643 $14,764 $11,544 sa,220 I 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $299,737 $36,998 $31,086 $5,9121 

EXCESS REVENUES/ 
{EXPENDITURES) ($44,487) ($31,074) 

FUND BALANCE-BEGINNING $44,487 $127,067 

FUND BALANCE-ENDING $0 $95,992 

2 



REVENUES: 

Assessments - Tax Roll 

Interest Income 

TOTAL REVENUES 

EXPENDITURES: 

Series 2013 
Special Call 11/01 
Interest Expense 11/02 

Principal Expense 05/01 

Interest Expense 05/01 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

EXCESS REVENUES/ 
(EXPENDITURES) 

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 

HERITAGE PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

DEBT SERVICE FUND 

Statement of Revenues & Expenditures 

For Period Ending October 31, 2019 

DEBT SERVICE 

BUDGET 

PRORATED BUDGET 

THRU 10/31/19 

$384,574 

$100 

$384,674 

$10,000 

$101,302 

$185,000 

$101,302 

$397,604 

($12,930) 

$145,875 

$132,945 

3 

$0 

$8 

$8 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

ACTUAL 

THRU 10/31/19 

$0 

$50 

$50 

$0 
$0 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$50 

$340,206 

$340,256 

VARIANCE 

$0 

$42 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 I 



REVENUES: 

Transfer In 
Interest Income 

TOTAL REVENUES 

EXPENDITURES: 

Capital Outlay 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

EXCESS REVENUES/ 
(EXPENDITURES) 

HERITAGE PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

CAPITAL RESERVE FUND 

Statement of Revenues & Expenditures 

For Period Ending October 31, 2019 

CAPITAL RESERVE PRORATED BUDGET 

BUDGET THRU 10/31/19 

ACTUAL 

THRU 10/31/19 

$16,078 
$0 

$16,078 

$0 

$0 

$16,078 

$0 
$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 
$175 

$175 

$0 

$0 

$175 

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING $120,929 $121,299 

FUND BALANCE· ENDING $137,007 $121,474 

4 

VARIANCE 

$0 
$175 

s115 I 

$0 

so I 



~ 

"' 
I 
~ cc: C 

<{ • 
0.. E 
Lu 

C. 
0 

l9 • <{ > • I- C 
ii: ,i, 
Lu C 
I ~ 

E 
E 
0 u 

j 

s • 
1 

:a 

-

:1 

} 

:! 

;, 

-

ii 

tl 
0 

g a 

gg 

gg 

gg 

gg 

gg 

gg 

gg 

WW 

"" 

gg 

" I 
I ~ " 

" 

0 

0 

i 

I i ] ·" 
~ I c 

0000000000000000000 
<J><J><J><J><J><J><J>V>V>V>V><J><J'l-<J'l-<J'I-V><J><J>V> 

0000000000000000000 
<J>V><J><J'l-<J><J><J><J>V><J>V>V><J><J><J>V>V><J><J> 

0000000000000000000 
<J><J>V><J><J><J>V><J><J><J><J><J>V>V><J><J'l-<J><J><J> 

0000000000000000000 
<J>V><J>V><J'l-<J><J><J>V><J>V><J><J'l-<J><J><J><J><J>V> 

0000000000000000000 
<J>V><J><J'l-<J>V><J>V><J>V>V><J><J><J><J>V><J><J>V> 

ggggag~~g~~gammg*a~ 
,.._-<J> .,, <J'I- ,,,- .,. 
w w w 

iE!gg~-i5~-gggg 
.,. <J> "'V> 

o a o o o o o a o o o o o 
.,, <J>V>.,. <J> <J> .,,,,.. <J>.,. V> .,..,, 

o o a o o o o o o o a o o 
<J).V><J>V><J><J'l-<J><J).V><J><J>V>V> 

o o o a o o a a o a a a o 
<J> <J> V> <J'I- <J> <J> <J> <J> "' <J> .,. <J> <J> 

a a o a a a o o o a o o o 
<J> <J> .,, <J> <J'I- <J> <J> <J> <J> <I> V> .,. '-" 

o a o a o o a a o o o a a 
.,. <J'I- <J'I- <J> <J> V> "' <J> '-" <J'I- <J> "' .,, 

a o o a a o o a D a a o a 
<J><J>V>V>V>«>V><J'l-<J><J><J>V>V> 

ggggggggggggg 

" 



MATURITY DATE: 

Heritage Park 
Community Development District 

LONG TERM DEBT REPORT 

SERIES 2013, SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REFUNDING BONDS 

5/1/2035 

RESERVE FUND DEFINITION 

RESERVE FUND REQUIREMENT 

RESERVE FUND BALANCE 

50% OF MAXIMUM ANNUAL DEBT 

$192,383 

BONDS OUTSTANDING -10/30/13 
LESS: SPECIAL CALL 5/1/14 

LESS: PRINCIPAL PAYMENT 5/1/15 
LESS: PRINCIPAL PAYMENT 5/1/16 

LESS: SPECIAL CALL 5/1/16 
LESS: PRINCIPALPAYMENT5/1/17 

LESS: PRINCIPALPAYMENT5/1/18 

LESS: SPECIAL CALL 11/1/18 
LESS: PRINCIPAL PAYMENT 5/1/19 

LESS: SPECIALCALL5/1/19 

CURRENT BONDS OUTSTANDING 

6 

$192,807 

$5,095,000 

($10,000) 

($160,000) 
($165,000) 

($10,000) 
($170,000) 
($175,000) 

($20,000) 
($175,000) 

($5,000) 

$4,205,000 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



HERITAGE PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT RECEIPTS~ FY2020 

TAX COLLECTOR 

Gross Assessments $ 679,765 $ 271,560 $ 408,205 

Net Assessments $ 638,979 $ 255,266 $ 383,713 

2013 

Date Gross Assessments Discounts/ commlsslons Interest Net Amount General Fund Debt Svc Fund Total 

Received Dist# Received Penalties Paid Income Received 39.95% 60.05% 100% 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Totals $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

7 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



I Fund 
General Fund 

Payroll 

Heritage Park 
Community Development District 

Summary of Invoices 

September 11, 2019 to November 14, 2019 

Date CheckNo.'s 
9/13/19 2800-2802 
9/18/19 2803 
9/20/19 2804 
9/27/19 2805-2807 
10/4/19 2808-2811 

10/14/19 2812-2813 
10/18/19 2814-2816 
11/8/19 2817-2818 

September 2019 
Joanne B. Wharton 50360 

Kenneth K. Kinnecom 50361 
Mark J. Masley 50362 

Robert L. Curran Jr. 50363 
Thomas V. Perry 50364 

Amount 
$ 3,882.85 
$ 2,165.00 
$ 7,090.00 
$ 2,034.76 
$ 18,485.35 
$ 3,118.74 
$ 2,455.41 
$ 8,401.56 

$ 47,633.67 

$ 184.70 
$ 184.70 
$ 200.00 
$ 184.70 
$ 184.70 

$ 938.80 

$ 48,572.47 



------------------------------------- --- -

AP300R YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER RUN 11/14/19 PAGE 1 
*** CHECK DATES 09/11/2019 - 11/14/2019 *** HERITAGE PARK CDD-GENERAL FUND 

BANK A HERITAGE PARK CDD 

CHECK VEND# ..... INVOICE ...•.... EXPENSED TO... VENDOR NAME 
DATE DATE INVOICE YRMO DPT ACCT# SUB SUBCLASS 

9/13/19 00002 9/01/19 413 201909 320-53800-12000 
CONTRACT ADMIN. SEPT.19 

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

9/13/19 00014 

9/13/19 00043 

9/18/19 00042 

8/30/19 3208365- 201908 310-51300-48000 
NOTICE OF FY20 MEETINGS 

THE ST.AUGUSTINE RECORD 

8/31/19 JAX47368 201908 320-53800-46200 
LANDSCAPE MAINT AUG19 

8/30/19 59814 
AQUATIC 

9/13/19 60126 
AERATOR 

YELLOWSTONE LANDSCAPE 

201908 320-53800-46300 
WEED CTRL AUG19 
201909 320-53800-46600 
SVC-POND 800/1400 

FUTURE HORIZONS, INC. 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

9/20/19 00044 

9/27/19 00001 

9/27/19 00002 

9/19/19 9766 
FY20 

9/19/19 9766 
FY20 

201909 300-15500-10000 
PROPERTY INSURANCE 

201909 300-15500-10000 
GEN.LIAB/PUBLIC OFFC 

EGIS INSURANCE ADVISORS, LLC. 

9/10/19 110086 201908 310-51300-31500 
RESRCH.EXEMPT/MEMORANDUM 

HOPPING, GREEN & SAMS 

9/18/19 415 201908 320-53800-46400 
INSPCT/CLN LAKES/OUTFALL 

9/18/19 415 201908 320-53800-46400 
GAS/GATOR/TRAILER 

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

9/27/19 00021 9/27/19 42724 201908 310-51300-31100 
BRIDGE INSPECT/SITE VISIT 

PROSSER, INC 

10/04/19 00042 9/30/19 60247 201909 320-53800-46300 
AQUATIC WEED CTRL SEP19 

FUTURE HORIZONS, INC. 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
10/04/19 00002 9/15/19 414 201910 310-51300-31700 

PY20 ASSESSMNT ADMIN CERT 
10/01/19 416 201910 310-51300-34000 

MANAGEMENT PEES OCT19 

HERT HERITAGE PARK TVISCARRA 

STATUS Af10UNT •••• CHECK ••••• 
AMOUNT # 

* 858.33 

858.33 002800 
- - - - - - - - - -

* 80.78 

80.78 002801 
- - - - - - - - - -

* 2,943.74 

2,943.74 002802 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 1,945.00 

* 220.00 

2,165.00 002803 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 524.00 

* 6,566.00 

7,090.00 002804 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 226.00 

226.00 002805 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 883.32 

* 177.94 

1,061.26 002806 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 747.50 

747.50 002807 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 1,945.00 

1,945.00 002808 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

* 7,500.00 

* 4,386.25 



AP300R YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER 
*** CHECK DATES 09/11/2019 - 11/14/2019 *** HERITAGE PARK CDD-GENERAL FUND 

BANK A HERITAGE PARK CDD 

CHECK VEND# ..... INVOICE ........ EXPENSED TO... VENDOR NAME 
DATE DATE INVOICE YRMO DPT ACCT# SUB SUBCLASS 

10/04/19 00003 

10/04/19 00043 

10/01/19 416 201910 310-51300-35100 
INFORMATION TECH OCT19 

10/01/19 416 201910 310-51300-31300 
DISSEMINATION FEE OCT19 

10/01/19 416 201910 310-51300-51000 
OFFICE SUPPLIES OCT19 

10/01/19 416 201910 310-51300-42000 
POSTAGE OCT19 

10/01/19 416 201910 310-51300-42500 
COPIES OCT19 

10/01/19 417 201910 320-53800-12000 
CONTRACT ADMIN. OCT19 

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

9/01/19 18629 201910 310-51300-32200 
FY19 AUDIT SERVICES OCT19 

GRAU AND ASSOCIATES 

9/15/19 JAX53723 201909 320-53800-46200 
LANDSCAPE MAINT SEP19 

YELLOWSTONE LANDSCAPE 

10/14/19 00054 10/01/19 74127 201910 310-51300-54000 
SPECIAL DISTRICT FEE-FY20 

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
10/14/19 00043 10/01/19 JAX56447 201910 320-53800-46200 

LANDSCAPE MAINT OCT19 
YELLOWSTONE LANDSCAPE 

10/18/19 00002 10/14/19 418 201909 320-53800-46400 
INSPCT/CLN LAKES/OUTFALL 

10/14/19 418 201909 320-53800-46400 
GAS/GATOR/TRAILER 

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

10/18/19 00001 10/10/19 110562 201909 310-51300-31500 
MTG/REV.AGENDA/AGREEMENT 

HOPPING, GREEN & SAMS 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
10/18/19 00021 10/17/19 42835 201909 310-51300-31100 

PRP/ATTEND CDD MEETING 
PROSSER, INC 

11/08/19 00042 10/31/19 60622 201910 320-53800-46300 
AQUATIC WEED CTRL OCT19 

HERT HERITAGE PARK TVISCARRA 

STATUS 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

RUN 11/14/19 

AMOUNT 

150.00 

83.33 

17.68 

11.17 

89.85 

858.33 

500.00 

2,943.74 

175.00 

2,943.74 

752.51 

178.90 

1,064.00 

460.00 

1,945.00 

PAGE 2 

.... CHECK ..... 
AMOUNT # 

13,096.61 002809 

500.00 002810 

2,943.74 002811 

175.00 002812 

2,943.74 002813 

931. 41 002814 

1,064.00 002815 

460.00 002816 



AP300R YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER 
*** CHECK DATES 09/11/2019 - 11/14/2019 *** HERITAGE PARK COD-GENERAL FUND 

BANK A HERITAGE PARK CDD 

CHECK VEND# ..... INVOICE ........ EXPENSED TO... VENDOR NAME STATUS 
DATE DATE INVOICE YRMO DPT ACCT# SUB SUBCLASS 

10/31/19 60800 201910 320-53800-46600 
C-25 CTRL PANEL/AERATOR 

10/31/19 60801 201910 320-53800-46600 
AERATOR SRVC/KASCO/CAPAC. 

10/31/19 60802 201910 320-53800-46600 
AERATOR SRVC/BARDWARE/KIT 

FUTURE HORIZONS, INC. 

11/08/19 00002 11/01/19 419 201911 310-51300-34000 
MANAGEMENT FEES NOV19 

11/01/19 419 201911 310-51300-35100 
INFORMATION TECH NOV19 

11/01/19 419 201911 310-51300-31300 
DISSEMINATION FEE NOV19 

11/01/19 419 201911 310-51300-42000 
POSTAGE NOV19 

11/01/19 419 201911 310-51300-42500 
COPIES NOV19 

11/01/19 419 201911 310-51300-41000 
TELEPHONE NOV19 

11/01/19 420 201911 320-53800-12000 
CONTRACT ADMIN. NOV19 

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

TOTAL FOR BANK A 

TOTAL FOR REGISTER 

HERT HERITAGE PARK TVISCARRA 

* 

* 
* 

* 
* 
* 

* 

* 

* 
* 

RUN 11/14/19 

AMOUNT 

344.17 

201.99 

401.13 

4,386.25 

150.00 

83.33 

5.07 

3.45 

22.84 

858.33 

47,633.67 

47,633.67 

PAGE 3 

.... CHECK ..... 
AMOUNT # 

2,892.29 002817 

5,509.27 002818 



Governmental Management Services, LLC 
1001 Bradford Way 
l<in~c:fnn TN -:t.77f-i~ 

Bill To: 
He1ita_ge Park CDD 
475 West Town Place 
Sulla 114 
St. Augustine, Fl 32092 

Description 

Contract Administration w Sep!ember 2019 

Hours/Qty 

Total 

Invoice 

Invoice#: 413 
Invoice Date: 911/19 

Due Date: 911/19 
Case: 

P.O. Number: 

Rate Amount 

858.33 858.33 

$858.33 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $858.33 



Fri, Aug 30, 2019 
10:33:47AM 

Acct: 
Phone: 
E-l'llall: 
Client: 

Ad Number: 
Start: 

Placement 
Copy Line: 

Lines 
Depth 
Columns 

Price 

15656 
9049405850 

Legal Ad Invoice 

The St. Augustine Record 
$end Payments to: 

The St. Augusting Record Dept 1261 
Pb Box 121261 

Dallas, TX 75312-1261 

Name: 
Address: 

Hi:RITAGE PARK COMM DEVELOPMENT 
475 W TOWN PLACE, STE 114 

HERITAGE PARK COMM DEVELOP! City: SAINT AUGUSTINE State: FL 

0003208365-01 
08130/2019 

Caller: SARAH SWEETING 
Issues: 1 

SA Legais Rep: Melissa Rhinehart 

Payfype: 
Stop: 

BILL 
08/30/2019 

Zip: 32092 

NOTICE OF MEETINGS HERITAGE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT The Board of Supeivlsors of the Her 

53 
4.50 

1 

$80.78 

NCrrlCEOP.MllETINGS 
HERJTAGEPARK 

COMfttuN11,j~~r~-OPMlmf 

'lne lloQrd 0£Supe1'VUllr& oftbn Herl_tagu 
PMk Comunm[ty D~lopniC[ll Dltiltlct 
,,ill hnM 1helr ngu.lar~\' ul1ed11kid·1mb• 
lie fl\eellnJ!ll for ·Flstlll Y,1111\' ·-:.w20 at 
the H~lti,E: Pt.tk An1N\ity O\nler, ~~n 

~e::~ l,:~~p,!7 ~1\fe~~ird 11ti: 
cln~• 11fo11ch u10n1h lined cs follnwf, 

N11,-c,ml1~hn, ~Ill.~ 
JIU\Ufi'/y 11:1, 20~0 
Mul'ch W, 2020 
M(J)':U,W~ 
Julylll, ~020 
/;yp!t,mhetl7, !20:.IO 

~~11r1ii::11:;d~:~~,~ ~~~&\~~c ~~e 
di,: prnvl,l111U ur.Fforld11 lnw fnr eo,,.. 
ml11ilty D1,.'\\'lnl•nw_n1 · Dl~tdets, '111e 
mee1tng4 fl\!>Y be t11JllinueJ to n di\~, 
tU'm,•, 1U1d fl11l-e lo he·spedfled on tfw ~=u:: !vt~~:mt ll1l;~ui'J~{at 
n\.r; m,iy 11nrtidpitle h1 ~pe-n.kt!r lele
phune, 

Any .(l!!™111 Tl'jlll[rTnj', f;JM!tinl 11"-'llmmn• 
dnholl~ for ll10 n)elllluf be~u,w rif 11 

~t~ltyciin~t ni~•~1'rtriJm&•1ie~~t 
_(9ll4-) 9,10•1'16~0 nl I~~\ r<itt)'-dg ll (,Hr) 

·!:~TiJ~~~;~tu,~;J~: J~~ 
111~1 tbe llfolldB Reill)· Stnire nt 1-BIHJ.. rifti~/or :i1kl ln ronl1tl1ing the D~ 

lillcl\ ~n:on who ~N tu n11po111 nny 
11otlun tokm ot the ml!tlfup W ndvhed 
tlui.t ~un wilt oettl J l"l:~'1Jrd o/ the 
proct~1:llt_1g11 11,ul lliot arum.Jingly, the 
pmor, may ueed hi-erwre lh11! o w1i~1-
th11 ftllUl'd llf the cto("l'lldil1~ Js mndc, 

~~~ti1e1~~~t~~;~1: :i r~nce 
Jume:sOll\'<lt 
D!~ll-kt Maru>.ger 

llll0/f208,')(ili Au)(U,l IW, Wl!l 



THE ST. AUGUSTINE RECORD 
Affidavit of Publication 

HERITAGE PARK COMM DEVELOPMENT 
475 W TOWN l.'LACE, STE 114 

SAINT AUGUSTINE, FL 32092 

ACCT: 15656 
AD# 0003208365-0t 

PO# 

PUBLISHED EVERY MORNING SUNDAY THROUGH SATURDAY 
ST. AUGUSTINE AND ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF ST. JOHNS 

Before the undersigned authority personally appeared MELISSA 
RHINEHART who on oath says he/she is an Employee of the St. 
Augustine Record, a daily newspaper published at St. Augustine in 
St. Johns County, Florida; that the attached copy of advertisement 
beh1g a NOTICE OF MEETING In the matter of MEETING 
SCHEDULE 2020 was published in said newspaper on 
08/30/2019. 

Affiant further says that the St. Augustine Record is a newspaper 
published at St. Augustine, in St. Johns County, Florida, and that 
the said newspaper heretofore has been continuously published in 
said St. Johns County, Florida each day and has been entered as 
second class mail matter at the post office in the City of St. 
Augustine, in said St. Johns County, Florida for a period of one 
year preceding the first publication of the attached copy of 
advertisement; and affiant further says the he/she has neitl1er paid 
nor promised any person, firm or corporation any discount1 rebate, 
commission, or refund for the purpose of secul'ing thfa 
advertisement for publication in said newspaper, 

b4,1.fii 1vLA1M"=-........_.., 
(Signature fNom1y Pubu¥ L 7L . 

.,.JI,~--~ Not~ry Pllbllc Stat& ol Florida 
;, -~B ,- Klrnb•rlY M Roese 
• : My cornmisalon GG 312209 
~~ # E11.plres 03/1712023 

o,~ ...... A..-.rt..A..A.A.., 

• ~v- -·w---~ 



Bill To: 

Heritage Park CDD 
c/o GMS-CF, LLC 
9145 Narcoossee Rd 
Suite A 206 
Orlando, FL 32827 

Property Name: Heritage Park CDD 

INVOICE 

Remit To: 
Yellowstone Landscape 
PO Box 101017 
Atlanta, GA 30392-1017 

Invoice Due Date: September 30, 2019 

Invoice Amount: $2,943.74 

Invoice Total $2,943.74 

+t 43 
1-;,-ao ·008 - '{E, a 

l..crJ,k,~ li:l,,11-\" A'-':J I 'l 

Should you have any questions or inquiries please call (386) 437-6211. 

Yellowstone Landscape I Post Office Box 849 I Bunnell FL 32110 I Tel 386.437.6211 I Fax 386.437.1286 



Future. Horizons, Inc. 
:403 North First Sir.eel 
Pb Box 1115 
Hastings, FL 32145-1115 

Voice: 800-682-1187 
Fax: 904-692-1193 

BIii To: 

Herlll;lge Park COD 
c/oOMC, LLC 
1408 Hainlin Av11nue, Unit E 
St Cloud, FL 34 77-1 

Customer ID 

H~tage04 
Sales Rep ID 

Quantity Item 
1.00 I Aquatic Wei:ld Control 

Check/Creda Menio No: 

lID ~~~ TIWJ~ Tu! 
fill SEP 1 6 ·1111q @ 
BY: - _________ ,,.., 

Ship to: 

llt11]~1 (! )Jjj({ ~:[: : 
trwolGe Number: 59814 
Invoice Date: Aug 30, ·2019 
Page: 1 

Aquatic Weed I Control Services 

' 

Customer PO 

Per Contract --- -- --
Shipping Method 

Hand Deliver 

Description 
Aquatic Weed Control services In Heritage 
Park for the month of August, 2010 

7'$~ ~3-17 
I /4~ ;f/4,~, 
I OD!. 3~o. b38oo, 'fG too 
i 

! JH-t_a_ 

l -3aG~::i?>~ -~~ 3 

f1<t_.<A.a.,+k ~J.. Lh·\A~ \ q 

I Subtotal 
,--- ······ 
: SalesT ax 
! Freight 
1 Total -Invoice Amount 
---- ---·-
PE!yment/Credlt Applied 

TOTAL 

Overdue invoices are subject to finance charges. 

Payment Terms 

Net 30Days 
Ship Date Due Dale 

9/29/19 

Unit Price 
- 1,945.00 

Amount 
1,945.00 

1,945.00 

... 1,945.00 -j 

1,94s.oo I 



Future Morlzons, Inc. 
403 Norlh First Street 
P0Box1115 . 
HasUngs, FL 32145-1115 

Voice: 800-682-1187 
Fax, 904-692"1193 

Bill To: 

Heritage Park COD 
c/oGMC, LLC 
1408Hamlln Avenue, Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Customer ID 

H~riia§J_e~ 
Sales Rep ID 

.l 
[ ___ ·-·-- Kenneyo.1 _ -- ~ 

Quantity Item 
1.00 i Aerator Service 

Check/Credit Memo No: 

. IH,~1l~f ~ >)Ml( ;;1: ~ 
Invoice Number: 60126 
Invoice Date: 
Page: 

BY·-------------

Ship to: 

Herj~ge Park CPD 
c/o GMC,U.C 
1408 Hamlln Avenue, Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Sep 13, 2019 
1 

Pa>"!lent Terms 
Ne.l30 Days 

- - - .l 
Customer PO 

Verbal 
Shipping Method Ship Date Due Date 

Hand Deliver 9/12/19 10(13/19 
·- ------ -- ·-··· ···- --····-·-· ·- -- -

Desorlptlon 
Aerator Se1Vlce Ponds sod &-1400 
Remounted fountain control box for Pond 
800 that had been knocked off post. 
Replaced GFI outlet and in use ouUet cover 
forfourtlaln in Pond 1400 . 

.U:t.tJ \ ·')'J,.◊-:>3'55 -'{(,' 

~~ Snrc.. - 9ocvA '<!;ooj,'i oo 

13 ~ '/.ff, ·Ir 
·1 /4t:.f &'°""'16"'~)' 

! (){)/, 3,l.O, ~n~ fiO<J,f./€,6lJO 

-- ---l ·-- ---
: Subtotal 
;- --------------·- ·-·· 
; SalesTax 
!Freight 
1 ·Totallnv-oice_ A_m_ouni:···--

---- -- -- -
l!.ayment/Cred~~pliod 
TOTAL 

Ove_rdue Invoices are subject to finance, qharges. 

Unit Price 
220.00 

Amount 
220.00 

220.00 

220,00 

220.00 



Custom.er Heritage Park Community 
Development District 

Acct# 284 

Date 09/19/2019 

Customer 
Service Kristina Rudez 

Page 1 of 1 

PaymentJnformation - -
Invoice Summary $ 

Heritage Park Community Development District 
c/o Governmental Management Services 

Payment Amount 
Payment for: 

135 W. Central Blvd, Suite 320 100119546 
Orlando, FL 32801 

- -X - -
Please dc taC: J re,um w ith ix , 'llent 

customer: Heritage Park Community Development District 

Invoice Effective Transaction 

9766 10/01/2019 Renew policy 

B '(· ~-- ---- -----

FOR PAYMENTS SENT OVERNIGHT: 

Description 
Policy #100119546 10/01/2019· 10/01/2020 

Florida Insurance Alliance 
GL,HNO,IM • Renew po licy 
Due Date: 9/19/2019 

~\!>..:,- t"':>~- I 

(-u,,-, ~;"'"'(o/7...._l,\;c.... ofF;Sc!· J '> 

It 4l{ 

Egis Insurance Advisors LLC, Flllh Third Wholesale Lockbox, Lockbox #234021, 4900 W. 95th St Oak/awn, IL 60453 

Remit Payment To: Egis Insurance Advisors, LLC (321 )233-9939 ~Da~e 

Lockbox 234021 PO Box 84021 
09/19/2019 

Chicago, IL 60689-4002 sclimer@egisadvisors.com 

7,090.00 

--
lnvoice#9766 

Tha 11 , u 

iAmount 

7,090.00 

Total 

$ 7,090.00 

'hanl< You 



Hopping Green & Sams 
Attorneys and Counselors 

119 S. Monroe Street, S1e. 300 
P.O. Box 6526 

Tallahassee, FL 32314 
850.222.7500 

================================= STATEMENT================================= 

September 10, 2019 
Heritage Park Community Development District 
Governmental Management Services-CF, LLC 

Bill Number 110086 
Billed through 08/31/2019 

1408 Hamlin Avenue, Unit E · 
St. aoud, FL 34771 l~s~P~~!s~J 

'=11'\ , -~1 0•5 \~ -.,.,\S 

~,-c.l,\. {:..X~t-( f1(l,;,,ovcw.cJ.,u,.., 

General Representation 
HPARK 00001 CEL BY=-------------
FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED 
08/01/19 CEL Research regarding public records exemption. 

08/07/19 CEL 

08/15/19 CEL 

Telephone conference with Oliver; research meeting action Items. 

Telephone conference with Oliver. 

08/30/19 MCE Research and revise rules of procedure; review memorandum to district 
regarding same. 

Total fees for this matter 

MATTER SUMMARY 

Eldred, Carl 
Eckert, Michael C. 

TOTAL FEES 

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS MATTER 

BILUNG SUMMARY 

Eldred, Carl 
Eckert, Michael C. 

TOTAL FEES 

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS BILL 

0.60 hrs 
0.20 hrs 

0.60 hrs 
0.20 hrs 

280 /hr 
290 /hr 

280 /hr 
290 /hr 

Please include the bill number on vour check. 

0.20 hrs 

0.20 hrs 

0.20 hrs 

0.20 hrs 

$226.00 

$168.00 
$58.00 

$226.00 

$226 .00 

$168.00 
$58.00 

$226.00 

$226.00 



Governmental Management Services, LLC 
1001 Bradford Way 
l<lngston, TN 37763 

Invoice 

Bill To: 

~ ~CC~ TIW~ ffi1 
Jill SEP .2 7 W19 illJ 

Invoice#: 415 
Invoice Date: 9/18/19 

Due Date: 9/18/19 
Case: 

P.O. Number: Herilag_e Park COO 
475 West Town Place 
Suite H4 
St. Auguslino, FL 32092 

Description 

Factllly Maintenance August 1 • August 31, 2019 
Maintenance Supplies 

C PW\.....,o)'\ N..:.o. MCI,..,+, 
::l).t>, 5'38,~l..'i'o 

'lt~ 

In~ ja.1\ ~(Ouk('0v\\ 

BY·-------------

Hours/Qty Rate Amount 

083.32 883.32 
177,94 177.94 

l -3?.o-S~ ~ I..\~~ -4~2;3_3Q) 

GC<S I ~ ( T ro:M..,( 

l-~ - S3"6·46L\ {\\T7,q~ 

Total $1,061.26 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $1,061.26 



GMS 

IDtl.ft 
8/8f19 
0/8/19 
0/20/19 
8120/19 
8/22/19 

HERITAGE PARK OOMMUNffY DDVELOPMENl' DISTRICT 
MAINTENANCE BILLASU! HOURS 

!=OR THI: MONTH OF AUGUST 2019 

Hours ~ po5o[lptton 
5 C.P, Inspected and ctaanecl lakes and oulfaQ s\tuolutos (Used Gs1or and large Traller} 
6 8,M, lniipactad end cleaMd lakes and oulrab structures (Used Galor and Largo ireller) 
6 C,P. IM.peoted and cleaned lalces and ouUali structure& {Used Gator and l.orge Tralle1) 
5 8,M, hui:peclod and cleonod lakes and ou\Call (1\1\lctura& (Used Galorand Large Traller) 
3 R.M, Locale surfa_ce drain In easement behind 641 E, Redhouse Branch, axpo!lad the lop of dtaln 

removing sod end ijO!I lo allow forbelterdro!nlng 

iOTAL ...ll.,. 

MILES 176 •Mileage Is relmburiiebfe porsecllon 112.061 Flortda Slatule!I Mneaga Rate 2009-0,445 

HERITAGE PARJ( 



MAINTENANC§ BILLABLE PURCHASES 

Period ending 09/06/19 

DISTRICT 
HP 
HERITAGI! PAR\( 

Q.AlE SUPPLIES 

8/8/19 Jahn Daete Gator .and Trailer Renlal 
8/20/19 John Deere Gator and Trailer Renlal 
8/20/19 Contractor Trash 1:3age 
8120/19 Gas for John Oeere Gator 

TOTAL 

£BJQg EMPLOYEE 

70.00 C.P. 
70,00 O,P, 
22.94 O.P, 
15.00 C,P, 

$177.84 



PROSSER. 
ID) ~~~TI'WlE: Tu1 

Jill SEP . 2 7 !619 lill 
BY: ____________ _ 

Governmental Management Services - CF, LLC 
Attn: Teresa Viscarra 
1408 Hamlin Ave. Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

September 27, 2019 
Project No: 104022.01 
Invoice No: 42724 

Project 104022.01 Heritage Park/COD-General Fund 
Coordinate with structural engineer for wood bridge inspection, site visit with maintenance supervisor for flood issue behind 
homes, and attend CDD meeting. 
Professional Services from August 1. 2019 to August 31. 2019 
Professional Personnel 

Sr. Engineer 
Totals 
Total Labor 

it~\ 

\ -?Ao ·Sl~ -,\\ 

Bri~l(\~·/s,-t.e. Ui:s'it 

Hours 
6.50 
6.50 

Rate 
115.00 

Amount 
747.50 
747.50 

Total this Invoice 

13901 Sutton Park Drive South, Suite 200 I Jacksonville, FL 32224-0229 I 904.739.3655 I www.prosserlnc.com 

747.50 

$747.50 



Future Horizons, l.nc., 
403 North First Street 
PO Box 1115 .. 
Hastfnos, FL 32145-1115 

Voice: 800-682-1187 
Fax: 904-692~1193 

BIii To : 

Heritage Park CDD 
c/o GMC,LLC 
1408 Hamflrl Avenue, Unit E 
st: Cloud, FL 34n1 

Customer ID -- -

r, I ;-~ l ~/ (( ~ m ~ ,: -I :. ~ 
Invoice Number: 60247 
Invoice bate : Sep 30, 2019 
Page: 1 

BY: -----------

Customer PO 

Ship to: 

Aqualit:Weed 
Conlrol Services 

,____ Herllage04 ! ________ _ _ Per Conlract 
-- - Payment Terms 

___ Net30 ~y '.s 
Sales Rep 1D 

-- ·-··- - -
Quantity Item 

1.00 Aquatic:: Weed Control 

Shipping Method 
Hand Deliver 

Description 
Aquatic Weed Control services ih Heritage 
Park for the month of September, 2019 

u-ct a , -3-x<H=>o<z> _ '¼ 3 
A~"' c.. w~ o--r1 ~tq 

-~hip Date Due Date 

10/30/19 

Unit Price I 
1,945.00 

Amount 
- 1,945.00 

I. 

--- -- - --- ----------- ---··--- - ·· -· ·- - ~-- - I 

·------ ----- .. ···- -·-:-·- ·----·- ·- 1,945:00 1 , S!Jblotal 

j"s~1e"i Tax . 
I Freight 
I To\al-ln_v_ol_ce_A_m_o_u_nt-- - - - - · - - 1,.945.00 

Check/Credit Memo No: 
,·-Paym.ent/Credit.Applied ----- --- -

TOTAL 1,945.00 

Overdue invoices are subjeCt'lo finance-charge$, 



Governmental Management Services, LLC 
1001 Bradford Way 
Kingston, TN 37763 

Bill To: 

Heritage Park CDD 
475 West Town Place 
Suite 114 
St. Augustine, FL 32092 

BY: ____________ _ 

Invoice 

Invoice#: 414 
Invoice Date: 9/15/19 

Due Date: 9/15/19 
Case: 

P.O. Number: 

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount 

Assessment Roll Certification - FY 2020 7,500.00 7,500.00 

Total $7,500.00 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $7,500.00 



Governmental Management Services, LLC 
1001 Bradford Way 
Kingston, TN 37763 

BIii To: 
Heritage Park CDD 
475 West Town Place 
Suite 114 
St. Augustine, FL 32092 

@lb~~TI~~ ml 
illl OCT O ~! 7.0,g lliJ 

BY·-------------

Invoice 

Invoice#: 416 
Invoice Date: 10/1/19 

Due Date: 10/1/19 
Case: 

P.O. Number: 

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount 

4,386.25 4,386 .25 
150.00 150.00 

83.33 83.33 
17.68 17.68 
11.17 11.17 
89.85 89.85 

To~I $4,73828 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $4,738.28 



Governmental Management Services, Ll~C 
1001 Bradford Wciy 
Kingston, TN 37763 

BIii To: 
Heritage Park COD 
'176 Wes.tTown Place 
Suite 114 
St. Augusllne, FL 32092 

Description 

W)l&~IB;Jl \\1 g 1 
illl O(T o 3 ·m rn illJ 
BY· ____________ _ 

Hours/Qty 

Invoice 

Invoice fl: 417 
Invoice Date: 10/1/10 

Due Date: 10/1/19 
Cas~: 

P.O. Number: 

Rate Amount 

Contract Administration - October 2019 --- ~- ---~ -- - - ~ 
858.33 858.33 

l:t a 
\ <3~o -'?'1'>5 · l ~ 

G,"'t~<-\: Ad.tr,.,"' • Oe,,~ • l <\ 

Total $858 .33 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $858.33 



Phone : 561-994-9299 

Grau and Associates 
951 W. Yamato Road, Suite 280 

Boca Raton, FL 33431-
www.graucpa.com 

Heritage Park Community Development Center 
9145 Narcoossee Road, Suite A206 
Orlando, FL 32827 

Invoice No. 18629 
Date 09/0112.019 

@JJ~ ~~IT ~17 Tft,p 
ftl Sb) tl a ?om L 
BY: ------------~-

Fax: 561-994-5823 

SERVICE AMOUNT 

Audit FYE 09/30/2019 

0 - 30 
500.00 

31- 60 
0.00 

Current Amount Due 

61 - 90 91 • 120 
0.00 0.00 

Payment due upon receipt. 

Over 120 
0.00 

$ ___ so_o_.o_o 

$ _ _ =5,00.00 

Balance 
500.00 



Bill To: 

Heritage Park COD 
c/o Governmental Management Services-CF, 
LLC 
1408 Hamlin Avenue, Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Property Name: Heritage Park COD 

escrjptlon 
Monthly Landscape Maintenance September 2019 

ij: 4? l - 2)'J,.o -'20~ - ({<.;?. 

lOJ'lcA.s"~ MC¼rw ~l 'i 

-

INVO ICE 
INVOIC3Etl 'INVOICE DATE 

JAX 53723 9/15/2019 

TERMS P'0NUMBER 

Net30 

Remit To: 

Yellowstone Landscape 
PO Box 101017 
Atlanta, GA 30392-1017 

Invoice Due Date: October 15, 2019 

Invoice Amount: $2,943.74 

C\Jr.rent Amount 
$2,943.74 

Invoice Total $2,943.74 

BY: ____________ _ 

Should you have any questions or inquiries please call (386) 437-6211. 

Yellowstone Landscape I Post Office Box 8491 Bunnell FL 32110 I Tel 386.437.6211 I Fax 386.437.1286 



Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program 
FY 2019/2020 Special District Fee Invoice and Update Form 

Requ ired by Sections 189.064 and 189.018, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 73C-24, Florida Administrative Code 

Invoice No.: 74127 Date Invoiced: 10/01/2019 

Annual Fee: $175.00 Late Fee: $0.00 Received: $0.00 Total Due Postmarked b 12/02/2019: $175.00 

STEP 1: Review the following lnrormation, make changes directly on the form, and sign and date: 

1. Special District'• Name, Registered Agent's Name, and Registered Office Address: DE~ 
Heritage Park Community Development District 
Mr. Carl Eldred 
Hopping Green and Sams, P.A. 
119 South Monroe street, Suite 300 

Tallahassee, FL 32301 

2. Telephone: 

3. Fax: 
4.Emall: 
5. Status: 
6. Governing Body: 
7. Website Address: 

8. County(les): 
9. Functlon(s): 

10. Boundary Map on FIie: 
11. Creation Document on FIia : 

12. Dale Established: 

13. Creation Method : 

14. Local Governing Authority: 

15. Creation Document(a): 

16. Statutory Authority: 

17. Authority to lnue Bonds: 

18. Revenue Source(s): 

(850} 222-7500 
(850) 224-8551 

CarlE@hgslaw.com 

Independent 

Elected 

www.herltageparkcdd .com 

St. Johns 

Community Development 

04/02/2004 
04/02/2004 

01/12/2004 
Local Ordinance 

St. Johns County 

County Ordinance 2004-1 

Chapter 190, Florida Statutes 

Yes 

Assessments 

19. Most Recent Update: 10/05/2018 

FL.ORI DA CEPARTMltHT ,f 
EC,ONC>MIC . 9P'PORTUNITY 

BY· ______ ' _____ _ 

th:)1-{ 

l-3\0·5t'3-5'-\ 

,Se,,,,, l t'\• • • 
~-, .... , vl~,:n ~\- ,-~-t=Y~o 

,,,._,,,, 

I do hereby certify that the info_r_m_a_t~lo-ln-=a_ v_· e_(_/-1::.' ::::ftbt:;;::g..- =-o-== ----'- y-) _is_a_c_cu_r_a_te_a_nDd acotemplete a; ~f '~-~s r,:alel. - - ··-
Registered Agent's Signature : ._ 1 ~--4-J - _ 
STEP 2: Pay the annual fee or certify eligibility for the zero fee: 

a. Pay the Annual Fee: Pay the annual fee online by following the instructions at www .Florldajobs .org/Spec lalDlstrlctFee or by check 

payable to the Department of Economic Opportunity. 

b. Or, Cortify Eligibility for the Zero Fee: By initialing each of the following Items, I, the above signed registered agent, do hereby 

certify that to the best of my knowledge and belief, ALL of the follow ing statements contained herein and on any atlachments 

hereto are true, correct, complete, and made In good faith as of this date. I understand that any information I give may be verified . 

1. __ This special district and lls Certified Public Accountant determined the special district is not a component unit of a local 

general-purpose government. 

2. __ This special district Is In compliance with the reporting requlremenls of the Department of Financial Services. 

3. __ This special district reported $3,000 or less in annual revenues to the Department of Financial Services on its Fiscal Year 

2017/2018 Annual Financial Report (If created since then, attach an Income statement verifying $3,000 or less In revenues). 

Department Use Only: Approved: __ Denied: _ _ Reason: 

STEP 3: Make a copy of this fonn for your records. 

STEP 4: Mall this form and payment (If paying by check) to the Department of Economic Opportunity, Bureau of Budget Management, 

107 E. Madison Slreet, MSC 120, Tallahass ee, FL 32399-4124. Direct any questions lo (850} 717-8430 . 



8111 To: 
Heritage Park COD 
c/o Governmental Managernent Services-CF, 
LLC 
1408 Hamlin Avenue, Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Property Name: Hetilage Park ODD 

poscrl ptlori 
Monthly Landscape Maintenance October 2019 

IW lb tG 1~ TI \VJ~ 1~ 
m OCT 1 o 'lQ1S fill 

BY· --- --------·· 

·-
INVOICE II INVOl0J; Qf\TE 

JAX 56447 '10/1/2019 

TERMS HO NUMB13H 

Net :30 

Remit To: 
Yellowstone Landscape 
PO Box 101017 
Atlanta, GA 30392-1017 

Invoice Due Date: October 31, 2019 

Invoice Amount: $2,943.74 

Invoice Total 

:It l{ '.) 

1-~0-5 3~-l.\6::J. 

Gurrcnt Amoun ~ 
$2,943.74 

$2,943.74 

~k c~ M<ti:n,--\ Oc.,,.-11 

s·hould y,ou have any questions or inquiries please call (386) 437-6211, 

Yellowstone landscape I Post Office Box 8491 Bunnell FL 32110 I Tel 386.437.6211 I Fax 386.437.1286 

. 
) 



Governmental Man.~gement Services, LLC 
1001 Bradford Way 
Kingston, TN 37763 

Bill To: 
Herilage'Park ODD 
476 W~sl Town Place 
Suite 114 
St Augustine, FL 32092 

lu) 1~ (('; ,~ :u ~ 1~ 1\~ 
Ill ocT 1 1 -mn lliJ 

BY:_ 

Invoice 

Invoice ff: 418 
Invoice Date: 10i14/19 

Due Date: 10/14/19 
Case: 

P.O. Number: 

D11scrlptio11 Hours/Qty Rate Amount 

Faclllty Maintenance September 1 • Saptember 30, 2.019 
Maintenance Supplies 

~~ /0 .. /Y#lf 

e(f'Mt(\a~ A,u" n1A~~~' 
001. $~o~ S'3'f'i~•'lf>'-I oo 

#~ 

IV\'='pcJ/q., L<l-ks( Ou-+t,:._(I 

1-,?.~C>-5;,'6 -C.{i;;", 

~( G~-¾:,,...,-(Tvo..ile..v 

l ~ 3~ c, ~ $3~ - yr; 4. 

752,61 762,51 
178.90 178.90 

Total $931A1 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $931.41 



MAINTENANQg BILLABLE PURCHASES 

Period Ending 10/05110 

DISTRICT 
HP 
HERITAGE PARII 

MI!'S SUPPLIES 

9/10/19 Joh11 Deere Gator and Ttal!er Renie! 
9/24/19 John Oeere Gator and Tra~er Rental 
9/24/19 Contraotor Trash Bags 
9/24119 Gas for John Deere Gator 

TOTAi. 

PRICE EMPLOYEE 

70,00 C.P. 
70.00 B.M. 
22,94 6,M, 
15.96 B,M. 

$178,~0 



GMS HERITAGE PARK COMMUNIJY DEVElO~MENT DISTRICT 
MAINTENANCE BILLABLE HOURS 

FOR TflE MONTH OP SEPTeMBER 2010 

~ &llUi Emn!oyee Pos2r)pllon 
9!10/f9 6 C.!J, lnspaoled and deaned Jakes and oulh1tt srruclures (Used Gator/uuga Trailer}, L400 find 

600 (lakes) fDUntarn were not worldng o1 lho time, Ressl l!mem 
9/10/19 5 B,M, Inspected a11d cleaned !akas·and oulfallslruclurcs (Usad Gator/Large Troller), checked 

and reset 2 Umers that wa,e hOI working 
9/24/10 5 a.M. lnepecled and cleaned 1.ikea and oulfaUstructums (U8ed GatorJLarge ira!Jer), checked al! 

llmers, roset t1fpJ1ed trmer 
9/24/19 5 F.S, Inspected and cleaned lakes end outral! struoknes (Used gator/Large lraller) checked all 

timors 

TOTAL 20 

MILES 118 •Maeago is roJmhuiqabfe persecUon 112,061 Flortlla Statutes Mile ago Rate 2009-0.445 

HERITAGE PARII 



I 

Hopping Green & Sams 
Attorneys and Counselors 

119 S. Monroe Street, S18. 300 
P.O. BOK 6526 

Tallahassee, FL32314 
850.222.7500 

October 10, 2019 
Herlrege Park Community Development District 
Governmental Management Services-CF, LLC 
1408 Hamlin Avenue, Unit E 

BIii Number 110562 
Billed through 09/30/2019 

St. aoud, FL 34771 

General Representation 
HPARK 00001 CEL 

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED 
09/03/19 CEL Review meeting minutes. 

09/10/19 CEL 

09/11/19 CEL 

Prepare lake maintenance agreement. 

Prepare landscape agreement. 

'i.l 

I ·310~:S\:,-3\S 

1-'\t, / &-,, /.\:yi-lc,J A;i,.......,,,,-\7 

09/18/19 CEL Review meeting agenda packets; prepare for meeting; research regarding 
Board meeting requirements. 

09/19/19 CEL Prepare for and attend Board meeting, 

Total fees for this matter 

MATTER SUMMARY 

Eldred, earl 

TOTAL FEES 

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS MATTER 

BILUNG SUMMARY 

Eldred, earl 

TOTAL FEES 

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS BILL 

3,80 hrs 280 /hr 

3.80 hrs 280 /hr 

Please include the bill number on vour check. 

0.40 hrs 

0.30 hrs 

0.40 hrs 

1.20 hrs 

1.50 hrs 

$1,064.00 

$1,064.00 

$1,064.00 

$1,064.00 

$1,064.00 

$1,064.00 

$1,064.00 



PROSSER. 

Governmental Management Services - CF, LLC 
Attn: Teresa Viscarra 
1408 Hamlin Ave. Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

October 17, 2019 
Project No: 
Invoice No: 

104022.01 
42835 

Project 104022.01 Heritage Park/COD-General Fund 
Prepare for, travel to and attend COD meeting. 
Professional Services from September 1. 2019 to September 30. 2019 
Professional Personnel 

Sr. Engineer 
Totals 
Total Labor 

BY·-------------
\;\~l 

Hours 
4.00 
4.00 

R-p ( At-\'.<'.A~ c,Dl) ~~ 

/ -jL6 ·.:Sl?), '31 \ 

Rate 
115.00 

Amount 
460.00 
460.00 

Total this Invoice 

13901 Sutton Park Drive South, Suite 200 I Jacksonville, FL 32224-0229 I 904.739.3655 www.prosserinc.com 

460.00 

$460.00 



Futur .e l-lorizons, Inc. 
40·3 North. First Street 
POB .oxt115 
Hastings, FL 32145-1115 

Voice: 800-682-1187 
Fax: 904-692-1193 

Blll To: 

Heritage Park CDD 
c/oGMC, iLC 
1408 Hamlh, Avenue, Unit E 
St Cloud, FL 34771 

Customer ID 

~ ___ H_e~tageO~ I 
Sales Rep ID 

_ L.__ 

L Quantity I . l~ll'I 
1.00 AquatlcWeed Control 

BY: 

Ship to: 

111;-~il'~1(( ))ii Ct ~:IT: 
Invoice Number: 60622 
Invoice Date: 
Page: 

Oct 31, 2019 
1 

-1 Aquatic Weed 
Controi SerVice.s 

Customer PO 
Per Contract 

__ s1_1ip:....:~lng Method 
Hand Deliver 

----- -

L_ 

' _ _ Description 
1 Aquatic Weed Control seivtces In Heritage 
Park for the month of October, 2019 

i£J4,L 
Jnr..( (Yl;,w:, 

//J•'J0-19 

001, 3~o. S''J ~oo , t;6 '! t?o 

"'l\~ 

l-3c)C'l-53~ ·"\.\6':) 

t.\~~'- ~ C.:.\-r-\ O~l9 

P~_¥!11en! Torms 
Nel30 Days 

Ship Date Due Date 

_ -~ _!!_30(~9_· _ _J 

Amount 
1,945.00., 

! 

--- -- --·-· ·-· -- -

Check/Credit Memo No: 

Slibtotal ------ ·--·-· ·· l Sates Tax 
! Fre~ht-- _____ -__ -____ - __ -- ---- -· 

i Tetal Invoice Amount 

I p.aymenl/Cre\ilt Applied 
---- - -- .-

I ___ 1_,945._bp_l 

-- -----'I-------. 
-- ---- --------!--· - 1,945.00 ! 

TOTAL 1,945.00 I 

Overdue lnyol~s.a re subject lo finance r;;harges. 



r-:uture Horizons, Inc. 
40~ North First Rlret:1 
I-' 0 l:lox 11·15 
Ha stlng8, FL 3?.145-1115 

Voice: 800-682-1187 
Fax : 904--692-1193 

,~-
~ BIii To: _ ... - .. 

Heritage-Park ·coo 
c/o GMC, LLC 
1408 Hamlin· Avenue, Unit E 
St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Customer PO 
Verba·I 

_ __,S_hlppltill Mnt!~ 
Hand Deliver 

IINVO !I c::1 . .,; 
Invoice Number: 60800 
Invoice Dato: Oct 31, :.!019 
Page: 1 

r
-- . -· . Ship to: 

I lerilage Park CDD 
c/oGMC, LI.C 
1408 Hamlh Avenue, Unit I:: 

1 St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Pnyownt Toim~ ~-.-- I 
Net 3_0 Da-'--y_s __ _ •• .J 

· Shlp_ Dnl.o _·- ~,f 0.UG.D ,111 I 
10/30/19 ' 11/30/19 

17 ,Quantity lto1ri~~ 1- Doscrlptlon __ u_n_lt Prloe :-_I r {0O Kasco C25 -- -~ , C-25 Control Panel,-1-20_v_ _ __ _ 238.171 
AmounU 

239,17 I 

105.00 I 

1

1 
1 00 Aerator Service ,Aerator Service• Pond 100 105.0.0 

1 1 
R~•wire power supply and instaa a new I (" Cohtrol Pao,1. 

I • ~ ILi -11-1-1f 

I ,. 

Checl</Cred~ Memo No: 

l/4;~~l~'r 
I a:>1.~o, s:sl(oo,46600 
~~~ 

l-3;;io-~.q ~ 

c. ~ ~ G¼\ ~<l/ A~ 

I 

I Subtotal 

i Sal.es Tax 
:~Freight·- · · 

Total 'tnvoice~·Amourit -
PaymenlfCredlt Applied 

344 .17 : 
·-· ·------

-· - ·-- ·.........-- __ ., - -- -~ 
iTQTA'--~ ~ -- ---'-'-..-..::..c.-' ~ __, ___ _ _......J!L. ~""---~= ..:.c...;...,_, 

Overdue invoices are subject to finance charges. 



rutul'e Morlzons, Inc. 
403 North First Street 
PO Box 1115 
Hastings, FL 32145-1115 

Vol~: 800-602-1187 
fE!X: 904-692-1193 

L.au~~- --:---_ 
1 

Heritage Park COO 
c/oGMC, LLC 

' 1408 H~mlin Avenue, Unit E i St. Cloud, FL 34 771 

I... -

!J li"'l~P u. ~ II Cf;, I:~ 
Invoice Number: 60801 
Invoice Date: 
Page: 

Oct 31, 2019 
1 

FShlP to..;.:_ -_·_ ~ - --'--·----"'-'---•----.:..:...l. ~ -
1 Hentage Park COD 
. clo GMC, LI.C 
' 1408 Hamlin Avenue, Unit E 
: St. Cloud, FL 34771 

Ot1B
0

(01MrlO • ·customorPO ~--~ , Pnymontfcmno 
Heritage04 Verbal Net 30 Days 

.E a~1011 r:top ID Shipping M0thod -- -- - 1~ ~ -Ship Dato - -Ou_n_D_n_te 

l<enncy01 ___ _:,___ _· ______ ,, __ ~and ~~~-:_r _ ---· - J __ , _ 1?~8/_1_9 _________ J ___ l 1/3_0_/1_9 __ 

1-"'-"Q_l_.a_n __ t ..,.Y,.;;.'•---+~-- ·~,ioi~- - L -- -- ·-Ooscr,1,.:.p_tl_on_ -.:.._ _ _ _ -4f--ir_ni_t P_1:i:£I,_~ 11iii-~=~ 
1.00 990300 Large 0-Ring for Blue op 8, 35 I 8:35 
1.00 990275 , Cord 0-Rlng D 93 0 .. 931 

_I 

1.00 990280 I Black Plug for Top 2.251 2.25 
1 

1.00 j 990281 O-Ring !=or Black Plug 0.29 0.29 

1.0.0 I 496200 15.0 MF Capacitor 38.60, ~6.60 
1.00 j 99P900 I Kasco Oil 46.57 46.57 ' 
1.00 Aerator Service .Aerator Service - 800 West 105.00 , 105,00 ' 

, Pull and repair fountain I 
I 

1'/;~11~1~11 

'. IAK-f 11~~~)' 
I 001. 3Jo, ~-3ioO ,'-/ {,{,o'l'J 

'tr <{-a 
h:.,8.<>-~- l.(.<£ 

At¼<lS..CJt SN<,/ k~<1:>/G.f~<-. 

·-- L ·--· - - ·-- -- _ ___., __ _ I Subtotal --·-- - -
1- - - ·- ·- · ---
1 Sales Tax-__ . __ _ _ ____ .. __ 
, Freight 

· Total Invoice Amount 
1--· . ----- --· -

Check/Credit Memo No: l~yment/Credit Applied ... 

ro;rAL ' 
._____ -- --'--·- - --

Overdue Invoices are subject to finance l,harges 

l--
1 

---1. - ·--- ~ 

.. --·-- ~- ... -- 201.99 · 
"""---J 

- ·· ----1 



·r::uture Horizons, Inc. 
403 North First Street 
PO B.ox 1116 
Haslings,-FL 32145>1116 

Voice: 800-682·1187 
Fax: 904-692-1193 

io: -

INVOl c~:;I•: 
Invoice Number 60807 
Invoice Dale: Oct 31, 2019 

NOV p J I 

Page: 1 

~-- -- ...... , _ _ ...___..,,....._c... I ShlJflo: 
Heritage Park COD 
c/o GMC, LLC 
1408 Hamlin Avenue, Unit E 
Si.-Cloud, FL 34771 

Aerator Repair 
Pond 800 
Kasco 4400VFX I 

_I 

... _.1. _ _ C~t totnor lD Cl,lato~ _-_- __ t . Pa 1ohtlnnM -

Herit.age04 Per Contract Net 30 Days 

_ _ , ___ lll._os=1R ...... e-'-'p_lP-'--~~'----- -- ·- s1111,pino Mottiod - ~ - Ship Date l --~ t!!!.-
Kehney01 Hand Deliver ' _ _ __,1 11/30/19 

. ' CiluJnllty, ~ -··roo· 24ooso 
1.00 4406001< 
4.00 251200 

Item 

1.00 I Aerator Service 

__ J__ 

~-1-- ·oaacrfptlo11 
VX Tu.be an.d Hardware 

____ _ L Unltf rieol . 111nount ·· 1 
r· 127.941 127.94 I 

Prop Kit. 4400MVX w/ jam n ui 
I Machine Screws attaches VX float to units 
l(VX Units) 
1 
Aerator Service • Pond 800 East 
.Found missing and broken mounUng 
1 hardware. Also, found a broke prop. 

214l~ //.!-17 

, !Au Co~,-\3(NVf 

I {bf.2:ID. b3~, 4 6Goo 
~'{~ . 

\ -.:2icl..<.l -.s:;t ·<J.,f;x:. 

A.~....,.,, S'<'"-{ff~ Ki-t 

62.25 62.25 

2.11 I 8.441 

202.50 I 202,50 I 

.. -· ~ ; 
' • _ J 

401.13 I 

Checl<ICreda Memo No: 

Overdue Invoices· are subject to flnance·charges. 



Governmental Management Services, LLC 
1001 Bradford Way 
Kingston, TN 37763 

Bill To: 
Heritage Park CDD 
475 WestTown Place 
Suite 114 
St. Augustine, FL 32092 

u) J~(c!J?, Jf \W)~~ii~ 
1U ~!OV il / )1jll'.j Uj 

BV• ------------·-

Invoice 

Invoice#: 419 
Invoice Date: 11/1/19 

Due Date: 11/1/19 
Case: 

P.O. Number: 

Description Hours/Qty Rate Amount 

Management Fees - November 2019 
Information Technology-November 2019 
Dissemination Agent Services - November 2019 
Postage 
Copies 
Telephone 

810-S1'3-3(l 

:!,IO·Jl';}-35l 

~10-o13-:.1, 
~ 0 - 5\~ """{J 

3/o.s\ ~ ·4;J.5 
31\.l -sr:i-l11 

4,386.25 4,386.26 
150.00 150.00 

83.33 83.33 
5.07 5.07 
3.45 3.45 

22.84 22.84 

Total $4,650.94 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

Balance Due $4,650.94 



Gov8rnmentarManagement Sarvices, LL-¢ 
1001 Bradford Way 

-Kingston, TN 37763 

Billl'o: 
.Heritage f>ark coo 
475 West Town Place 
Suite 114 
st_. Augu~line, .FL 32002 

loJ 1 ~ cc~ 1,,1 :u \VJ rt ~ni 
ll1 NOV ll i mm ]l~ 
BY: ___ _ 

Description Hours/Qty 

Cori_t~ot Atlmi!iii,tr~tlon • NQ',iember Z019 

tta 1-3-:io-~-va 

(Ct1-tv-£\.d A~"' . ~ \" 

Total 

Invoice 

lnvoic(} #: 420 
Invoice Dale: 1111/19 

Due Dato: 11/1/19 
case: 

P.O. Numbor: 

Rate Amount 

658,33 868.33 

$858.33 

Payments/Credits $0.00 

$858.33 

11,'"'1,\"l 


	Board Letter
	Agenda
	III.	Approval of the Minutes of the September 19, 2019 Meeting
	IV.	Consideration of Resolution 2020-01, Setting a Public Hearing Date to Adopt the Revised Rules of Procedure
	VI.	Consideration of Proposal from Prosser for Rate Increase
	VII. D. Operations Manager - Report
	X. A.	Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues & Expenditures
	B.	Assessment Receipt Schedule
	C.	Approval of Check Register



